

## Healthy Workplaces Towards Quality and Innovation

Working Together for a Social and Competitive Europe

# Report

on the Current Status of Workplace Health Promotion in the Public Administration Sector





# Healthy Workplaces Towards Quality and Innovation

Working Together for a Social and Competitive Europe

# Report

on the Current Status of Workplace Health Promotion in the Public Administration Sector

**Dr. Reinhold Sochert** 



# Preface

The European Network for Workplace Health Promotion (ENWHP) comprises organisations such as national occupational health and safety institutes, public health institutions and Ministries of Health and Labour from all Member States of the European Community, the countries in the European Economic Area and a number of candidate countries. The network is being supported by the European Commission within the framework for action in the field of Public Health (No 645/96/EC).

With the passing of the 'Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion' at the end of 1997, the Network agreed on a common understanding of workplace health promotion (WHP). According to this Declaration, WHP is viewed as a comprehensive approach which necessitates a common strategy for all players inside and outside the enterprise.

In two projects carried out by the ENWHP between 1997 and 2000, models of good practice in workplace health promotion in (mainly) larger enterprises and in small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) were identified and publicised on the basis of jointly developed good practice criteria for WHP throughout Europe. In 2001 the Network's third joint initiative on WHP in public administrations was launched with the participation of 23 countries. (You may also refer to the brochure: "Models of Good Practice for Workplace Health Promotion in the Public Administration Sector").

This report is a result of an intensive discussion and co-ordination process among the network members and national experts. It consists of 16 national reports and the author's own analysis based on the data produced in the 3rd European Survey on Working Conditions carried out in 2000 by the European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions.

Special thanks should be extended to everyone who participated and particularly to the authors of the 16 national reports.

Essen, May 2002

Gojr Dren ohr

Dr. Gregor Breucker National Contact Office of the ENWHP/Germany

# Background

## Why the public administration sector?

Since the 90ies at the latest there is a consensus within the European countries concerning the need to modernize the public administration sector, in particular to reduce the "bureaucracy" and "lack of touch" with the public in public administrations. However, there are different views as to the direction of the necessary reforms and their speed.

There are two main issues within the public sector reform debate:

- Scope of public activities
- Effectiveness and efficiency of public administrations

The discussion on the first issue has led to a re-definition of public responsibilities. Over the last three decades a range of different approaches have been used to re-arrange the task profile of public organisations. These have included measures to contain and reduce public expenditure, the privatization of public enterprises, different forms of outsourcing, the introduction of contracting out and open tendering systems as well as the introduction of forms of competition into public administration organisations.

The second issue concerns the way public activities can be organized more effectively and efficiently. This will include discussing the very structure of public organisations including topics such as the level of complexity and hierarchy, possibilities to integrate tasks and team-work, the introduction of decentralized accountabilities of public organisations as well as new forms of relationships with external stakeholders (customatization of internal processes).

At the core of public sector reform debate the role of new management models can be identified. This includes the introduction of management by objectives and results systems and forms of programme budgeting. Human resource management and work organisation are strongly linked with the general debate on how to improve the impact of public investments.

In view of the number of employees, the public administration sector is large as well as being badly arranged and heterogeneous in the way it is organised and provides services\*. For all the differences in the organisation details, the main product is in most cases a service related to people. More depends in this sector on each and every employee than in the more intensive technical production of material

- Administration of the State and the economic and social policy of the community
- Provision of services to the community as a whole
- Compulsory social security activities

<sup>\*</sup>An ordinance of the EU Commission dating from 1993 on the "Statistical Classification of Economic Activity in the European Union" (NACE Rev. 1) created a uniform basis for delineating public administration from other economic sectors in Europe. According to this ordinance, public administration embraces all administrative activities of the executive and legislative organs at central, regional and local level. A difference is made between three groups of administrative activities:

This definition is also used as a basis in the present project.

Please note: According to the NACE-classification the transport and communication, education and health and social work sectors form separate business classes and thus are excluded.

goods. Whereas the proportion of personnel contributing to value production is between 20% and 50% the proportion in the public administration sector is even higher at 60% to 90%. The employees are the most important resource in increasing competitiveness, creating better contact with the public, providing better service to the customer and implementing change and new ideas. The manner in which employees are managed, motivated and qualified has a considerable influence on their feeling of wellbeing and their health and consequently on their efficiency and on the quality of the services they provide. This is the field where workplace health promotion strategies and action can provide added value to the public administration reform process.

However, workplace health promotion projects and programmes have been implemented within public administration organisations only to a small extent. There is a need to adapt the successful strategies of workplace health promotion which were mainly developed in the private sector to the specific requirements of public administrations.

With the adoption of the Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion in Europe in 1997 the ENWHP identified core priorities for workplace health policies and future action. As a first step these were implemented for larger enterprises. The results were then adapted to the specific requirements of working with small and medium sized enterprises. Due to the significant economic and social role of the public administration sector this initiative will now complete the main larger settings of workplace health in Europe.

## **Development stages of the project**

One of the aims of the project was to analyse and document the level of workplace health promotion in public administrations in participating countries. For this purpose a questionnaire was prepared prior to selected experts completing and writing up analysis reports. Experts from Denmark, Germany and Sweden helped to produce the questionnaire.

In addition to preparing these analysis reports, another major task was to find and document two to three models of good practice in each participating country on the basis of criteria developed in the previous ENWHP projects. The aim was to obtain presentation material showing how exemplary work-place health promotion activities can be achieved.

The country reports and models of good practice were then discussed in detail on a workshop attended by a variety of experts in order to assure the quality.

ENWHP's joint project on workplace health promotion in public administrations ended with the "ENWHP Third European Conference" in Barcelona (17 -18 June 2002). Under the heading "Healthy Workplaces Towards Quality and Innovation – Working Together for a Social and Competitive Europe", the project and the results were presented for the first time to a broad international audience.

# Contents

Background	6
Why the public administration sector?	6
Development stages of the project	7

1.	Introduction	10
1.1	Objectives and focal points	10
1.2	Concept of the manual	.12

2.	Social and economic framework of the public administration sector	14
2.1	Definition and special features of public administrations	14
2.2	Outlays and employment	.15
2.3	Age and gender	.18

<b>3</b> .	The working environment in the public administration sector	. 20
3.1	Posture and movement exposures	. 21
3.1.1	Repetitive hand or arm movements	22
3.1.2	Painful or tiring positions	
3.1.3	Carrying or moving heavy loads	26
3.2	Physical exposures	29
3.2.1	Low temperature	30
3.2.2	Noise	32
3.2.3	High temperature	34
3.3	Phycho-social working conditions	
3.3.1	Pace of work dictated by social demands	38
3.3.2	Working at very high speed	40
3.3.3	Monotonous tasks	42
3.3.4	Bullying and victimisation	44

<b>4</b> .	Occupational health results in the public administration sector	46
4.1	Work-related disorders	47
4.1.1	Stress	48
4.1.2	Backache	50
4.1.3	Muscular pains in shoulders and neck	52
4.2	Work satisfaction	54
4.3	Occupational sickness absence	56

omotion and occupational on sector
62
0

<b>5</b> Summarising evaluation	
---------------------------------	--

<mark>6</mark> .	Summarising evaluation	68
7.	Annex: Summaries of the national country reports	
	Austria	72
	Denmark	73
	Finland	75
	Germany	
	Greece	80
	Hungary	81
	Iceland	83
	Ireland	84
	Italy	87
	Liechtenstein/Switzerland	
	Netherlands	91
	Norway	93
	Portugal	97
	Romania	
	Sweden	101
	United Kingdom	

References	106
------------	-----

# 1. Introduction

## 1.1 Objectives and focal points

The aim of this report is to provide an overview of the status in workplace health promotion (WHP) and occupational health and safety (OHS) in the public administration sector (PubAd) in Europe. To pursue this goal, the European Network for Workplace Health Promotion decided to undertake an assessment of WHP and OHS in PubAd from the point of view of the national reporters from participating countries. This led to:

- the production of a national report regarding the state of WHP and OHS in PubAd in each of the participating countries, and
- the production of a consolidated report regarding the state of WHP and OHS in European public administrations based upon 16 national reports.

#### Production of the European report

Manual for Data Collection **16 National Reports** Austria, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Liechtenstein/Switzerland, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Sweden, UK

Consolidated European Report

The amount of work to be undertaken and the effort required to achieve the objectives in such a short time were recognised from the outset of the project. Therefore, the results were neither intended nor feasible to provide a definitive answer or, moreover, to conduct an international comparison of the European states. The shortage of available data alone and the problems which exist as regards the comparability of the national data and information do not permit such a target to be achieved. Instead, an attempt was made to provide a current snapshot of the state of WHP and OHS in European public administrations. It highlights a part of rather than a comprehensive picture and focuses on the following questions: What are the characteristics of WHP and OHS in PubAd compared with the general situation and what need for action still exists?

To undertake this assessment, the project co-ordinator (BKK) developed a manual consisting of a set of questions that were to be completed by each national reporter and then returned to the project coordinator for consolidation. For the most part, the manual is based on the "Manual for Data Gathering in the 15 EU Member States", developed and used by the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work in its pilot study: "The State of Occupational Safety and Health in the European Union (Including the Risk Sector Project)". It was altered and adapted to suit the specific requirements of this project.

Once the manual had been produced, it was left up to the individual National Contact Offices (NCOs) of the ENWHP to decide on the exact method of data collection to be applied in their country.

In some cases external experts were asked to complete the manual, whilst in others, the individual NCO completed the manual after obtaining the relevant data and/or canvassing appropriate expert opinion.

Once all the NCOs had completed and returned the manuals, BKK consolidated the data and prepared this report.

This report comprises six chapters and one Annex. To understand how the report is structured, a summary of each chapter is given below to offer the reader guidance.

#### Chapter 1 – Introduction

This chapter presents an introduction describing the aims and the course of compiling the report. Furthermore, a description is given outlining the concept of the manual.

#### Chapter 2 – Social and economic framework of the public administration sector

This section deals with the social and economic framework conditions of WHP and OHS in PubAd. It also presents the common understanding and some special features of PubAd. The objective is to describe the social and economic context.

#### Chapter 3 – The working environment in the public administration sector

This chapter presents the bulk of the consolidated information for the working environment in PubAd. The layout of each individual subsection is identical and consists of:

- European picture using the data from the 3rd European Survey on Working Conditions (ESWC-data)
- Comparison of EU-data and national data

#### Chapter 4 – Occupational health results in the public administration sector

This chapter looks at the consequences/results of the effects of occupational hazards in PubAd workplaces. It considers issues such as work-induced disorders, work satisfaction and occupational sickness absence in order to identify any particular trends or significant findings in PubAd compared with the other sectors.

#### Chapter 5 – The current practice of workplace health promotion in the public administration sector

The fifth chapter examines the preventive capacity and dissemination of WHP in the public administration sector. The range and status of WHP activities which are offered voluntarily above and beyond the statutory requirements are requested.

# Chapter 6 – Summary and evaluation of workplace health promotion in the public administration sector

The final section summarises the state of WHP and OHS in the public administration sector. The main aspects of WHP and OHS in the public administration sector, the major strengths and weaknesses as well as the need for action and strategies are described.

#### Annex – Summaries of the national country reports

The individual summaries from the 16 countries involved, which you find in the Annex, support and round off this report.

### 1.2 Concept of the manual

As already mentioned above, the manual for data collection in this project is based on a quite similar production prepared by the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work in Bilbao. Accordingly a number of specific indicators that are best suited to describe the exposure situation at work, the health results and the preventive capacity in European countries were selected. The following indicators were chosen to provide an appropriate picture of the working environment in the public administration sector:

- Posture and movement exposures: e.g. lifting/moving heavy loads, repetitive movements, strenuous working postures
- Physical exposures: e.g. noise, high temperature, low temperature
- Psycho-social working conditions: e.g. high speed work, pace of work dictated by social demand, bullying and victimisation, monotonous work

The following data-gathering procedure applied to most of the above indicators:

- The NCOs were requested to indicate the 5 exposures within each category with the highest risk in PubAd. In this step existing national quantitative data from e.g. national surveys with larger sample sizes or specific studies were asked to be presented. Tables were provided to present the collected information of the national data in a common way.
- 2. If the NCOs presented national quantitative data, they were asked to compare their national PubAd data with data from the private business sector by means of two key questions, i.e. "Are there differences between the data from the public administration sector and the data from the private business sector?" and "Does the information from the public administration sector highlight exposures that are not evident from private sector data?". In addition, the NCOs could give other comments. The objective was to see whether there are specific findings in PubAd compared with the general situation and what they are.
- 3. The NCOs were then requested to determine which categories (related to gender, age and occupations) are at the highest risk to the exposure indicator. As a basis for the selections, the NCOs could use quantitative information and relevant qualitative considerations, such as expert opinions, inspection reports, national priorities, research studies etc.
- 4. The NCOs were asked for an opinion about the trends on the number of workers exposed over the last 10 years. Furthermore, they indicated if there were any particular risk categories in gender, age or professions that are expected to deviate from this development.
- 5. Finally, the NCOs were requested to give an evaluation of the present state regarding the exposure indicator on whether development of additional preventive action is necessary or not.

The same step-wise procedure as was followed for the exposure indicators was used for most occupational health results.

To describe their current practice of workplace health promotion in PubAd, the NCOs were asked to present:

- the percentage of authorities that conduct WHP activities in PubAd
- the kind of WHP activities in PubAd
- the reasons for implementation of WHP measures in PubAd
- the results of WHP activities in PubAd
- the organisations conducting WHP activities

The data collection was based as much as possible on existing data available either on a quantitative or qualitative (reasonable estimates) level.

# 2. Social and economic framework of the public administration sector

## 2.1 Definition and special features of public administrations

It is difficult to accurately define the public sector as its structure differs widely in individual countries in Europe and is very heterogeneous. Another difficulty is that in everyday language no difference is made between the public sector and the public administration sector. The following are therefore included in the public sector as a whole: The administrations at federal level, the states (regions), cities, towns and municipalities, the judiciary, the police, the army, schools, universities, research institutes as well as hospitals, senior citizens' and nursing homes and other public health services.

An ordinance of the EU Commission dating from 1993 on the "Statistical Classification of Economic Activity in the European Union" (NACE Rev. 1) created a uniform basis for delineating the public administration sector from other economic sectors in Europe. According to this ordinance, the public administration sector embraces all administrative activities of the executive and legislative organs at central, regional and local level. A difference is made between three groups of administrative activities:

- Administration of the state and the economic and social policy of the community (L 75.1)\*
- Provision of services to the community as a whole (L 75.2)\*
- Compulsory social security activities (L 75.3)\*

This definition is also used as far as possible as a basis in the current project.

The general framework conditions in the public sector differ in many respects from those in the private sector. These include, in particular, modernisation pressure which has continued relentlessly for several years and which primarily stems from the criticism of the structure and size and the increasing scepticism as regards quality and efficiency of the public sector services.

Modernisation in the European administrations is based on the ideas and strategies of the "New Public Management". Basically, the strategies of the "New Public Management" assume that the public administration sector suffers from a lack of control which results from too great an emphasis on the input (provision of resources) and from a lack of result orientation. In order to counteract this, the modernisation strategies, in many cases based on management concepts from the private sector, rely on the result-oriented control on the basis of decentralised management and organisation structures whose benefits are to be improved through competition mechanisms and greater transparency. The key elements of such a strategy are:

<sup>\*</sup> The letters and numbers in brackets relate to the classification levels of the NACE classification.

- Control by objectives (management by results and performance)
- Contract management of administration units which have become independent
- Outsourcing of functions to private enterprises
- Formation of quasi-markets
- Emphasis on customer orientation

The experience gained in the European countries in the application of these strategies is not without an impact on the employees. For example, it has been seen in many cases that the simple transfer of market models to perform public functions leads to cost and quality problems both in the services themselves and in the working conditions.

One of the most important problems is that the modernisation of the public sector is frequently undertaken without the timely inclusion of the employees and that they are not introduced to the new organisational forms and control instruments until they have been introduced. Most of the reforms have therefore hardly paid off from the viewpoint of the employees and have tended to result in frustration and demotivation rather than in empowerment and the assumption of responsibility. As a result, the health situation of the employees and their working conditions in the public administration sector, as described and discussed further on in this report, are also to be evaluated against the backdrop of this modernisation process.

### 2.2 Outlays and employment

On examination of the development of the public sector compared with the private sector in the European countries, other noticeable aspects and trends can be found. As an overall trend, there was initially a sharp rise in total government outlays from 1970-1995, particularly in the sector of welfare state functions and the percentage of civil servants in the total employment figure. This overall trend, however, varied greatly in the individual countries.

If the total government outlays are examined in relation to the gross domestic product (see table page 16), there is an average rise in outlays throughout Europe of 35% in 1970 to 51% in 1995. The total government outlays therefore rose within 25 years by roughly half. Most countries have managed to reduce the percentages of government outlays since the mid-nineties, and very significantly by 2000. Economic factors and the institutional framework of the Maastricht Agreements combined to achieve this.

	1970	1980	1990	1995	2000*
Austria	37.6	47.1	48.6	52.6	49.0
Denmark	40.2	56.2	56.0	59.3	53.4
Finland	28.5	35.7	44.5	55.1	46.0
Germany	38.3	47.9	45.1	49.8	46.8
Hungary	-	-	50.8	_	44.5**
Italy	-	-	53.1	-	50.0**
Netherlands	41.3	55.8	54.1	51.3	47.7
Norway	34.9	43.9	49.7	47.6	47.0
Portugal	-	-	40.6	-	43.5**
Spain	-	-	39.7	_	39.9**
Sweden	44.2	60.1	59.1	65.6	58.5
United Kingdom	38.8	44.8	41.8	44.4	41.1
OECD Europe	35.3	44.8	48.3	51.0	46.6

## Total government outlays in selected European countries (as a percentage of GDP)

\* Estimates and projections \*\*1997

Source: OECD 1998 and 2000; Naschold, F.; Bogumil, J., 2000

As part of the overall trend, the countries can be classified into four groups at the height of the development of outlays in 1995 :

- The Scandinavian countries with the exception of Norway are in the top group as regards the level of government outlays (between 55% and 66%) and the rates of increase (between 17% and 25%).
- Germany, the Netherlands, Norway and Austria are in the middle group with a rate of increase of about 10% and a level of about 50%.
- United Kingdom has the lowest figures for the outlay level.
- No complete series of figures are available for Hungary, Italy, Portugal and Spain. They have different development trends between 1990 and 1997. While Hungary and Italy tend towards the middle group, Portugal and Spain are at a low level and are comparable with United Kingdom.

If the structure of government outlays is examined, three sectors can be differentiated:

- The traditional sector of government expenditure including defence, law and order (the public administration sector in the narrower sense)
- The welfare state sector with its different transfer payments
- The sector of the "mixed economy" with outlays to support the private sector and the debt service.

Accordingly, most countries have a relatively low and stable proportion of public administration sector of 7-9%. In most countries expenditure on defence has been falling by up to 50% since the end of bipolarity. On the other hand, the development of expenditure in the welfare state sector exhibits a much greater spectrum between the individual countries. It has risen substantially in all countries since 1970 and continues to rise considerably in the sector of transfer payments (unemployment, pensions) although no longer quite so dramatically as between 1970 and 1990. The data of the development of employment in the public sector overall has by and large a similar pattern (see next table).

Public employment in selected European countries
(as a percentage of total employment)

	1970	1980	1990	1997	1998
Austria	13.3	18.7	19.5	18.6	18.4
Denmark	17.0	28.0	29.6	30.3	30.0
Finland	12.1	17.3	20.5	23.4	25.2
Germany	11.2	14.6	15.1	15.3	15.0
Hungary	_	_	-	22.8	22.7
Italy	-	-	-	15.5	15.4
Netherlands	11.5	13.8	13.2	11.9	11.9
Norway	17.7	24.1	28.6	31.1	30.8
Portugal	-	-	12.1	15.5	15.2
Spain	-	-	14.0	15.7	15.5
Sweden	20.9	30.7	32.0	31.5	31.2
United Kingdom	18.1	21.2	19.5	14.2	14.1
OECD Europe	12.8	17.2	18.4	20.2	18.4

Source: OECD 1998 and 2001; Naschold, F; Bogumil, J., 2000

The employment percentages in the entire public sector in relation to total employment are initially much lower than the public expenditure in relation to the GDP. This is mainly due to the low employment level for the state transfer services. The peak was reached in 1997. In the OECD average for Europe the public sector accounts for a total of roughly 20% of total employment. In all countries the rise in the staff development after 1980 is no longer particularly high but declines are not recorded everywhere. The ranking of the countries as regards the employment percentages in the public sector as a whole corresponds approximately to their positions in the table of public expenditure. This applies in particular to the Scandinavian countries whereas there are differences in the ratio of government expenditure and employment percentages in the public sector overall between Germany, the Netherlands and Austria. In spite of reunification, Germany, viewed overall, lies quite a bit below the average. Sweden, Denmark and Norway have by far the highest employment percentage in the public sector.

One interesting trend in this context is that in most countries the proportion of central or federal government employees appears to have decreased slightly over the years, while that of local or regional government employees is increasing. It can be inferred from this general trend that human resources have been devolved to the service delivery points.

### 2.3 Age and gender

Another interesting development can be found if the employees are also examined according to their ages. Since roughly the early nineties there has been a trend in all European countries towards a fall in the employment of older workers owing to early retirement. The "normal" retirement pension was then no longer the norm but rather the exception.

For example, of those who started drawing a pension in Germany in 1997 only 27% of men and 45% of women were in the category "standard old-age pension" - all the others went into retirement before the "normal" pensionable age. Against the background of state regulations on easing the labour market and the increasing interest of the workforce in stopping work at an earlier age, companies increasingly pursued a strategy of "rejuvenation of workforces".

If a closer examination is made of what branches and sectors of the economy these corporate strategies to reduce the age of the workforces were pursued with particular enthusiasm, different and reverse trends can be discovered. Whereas in some branches of industry as well as in the services sector the proportion of older workers was reduced by approximately 5-10%, in other sectors there was a significant increase in the percentage of this group of workers. On the one hand, some branches of industry are very noticeable in this respect and, on the other hand, the public administration sector where the percentage of older workers has clearly risen in the last decade.

If all the branches of industry and sectors of the economy are combined and compared with the public administration sector, this observation becomes very clear and evident. The bottom line for all the branches in the private sector during the nineties is that the percentage of older workers (over 44 years old) rose considerably less than in the public administration sector. A comparison between 1993 and 2000 shows for the public administration sector that the growth rate of older workers is about 20% whereas the corresponding rate for the entire economy is only about 6% (see figure).



#### Share of European working population older than 44 years

Source: Own calculations to labour force survey 1993/1995/2000, Eurostat

<sup>\*\*</sup> EU-12 countries

Another characteristic can be seen if the employment of women is examined in more detail. The percentage of women who work in the public sector as a whole increased to a greater extent in the eighties and nineties than in the entire economy. This trend is also reflected in the public administration sector but here it is less pronounced.



Proportion of women in the public administration sector

Source: Labour force survey 2000, Eurostat; Country reports

The proportion of women is well above the EU average in Denmark, Finland, France and Norway whereas it is below average in the southern European countries and the Netherlands.

Despite the increasing proportion of women in the public sector, it appears that the number of women in managerial and senior level posts is still relatively low. In most countries the proportion of women in their respective top occupational group is about 20% or less. Meanwhile, in most cases, more than 60% of posts in the lowest occupational group are occupied by women. However, over the last decade the number of women managers has increased sharply in some countries (e.g. France and UK) and moderately in other countries. This can be explained in part by the fact that steps have been taken to promote equal employment opportunities between men and women. It is also expected that the proportion of women managers in the public administration sector will increase in the future thanks to the equal employment policies which are widespread in many European countries.

# 3. The working environment in the public administration sector

This section contains quantitative and qualitative information on the working environment in the participating European countries. In collating and presenting the following information, it must be appreciated that the method by which each NCO derived responses to particular questions was different. In many cases statistical data was not available. The information provided by individual NCOs merely represents their expert opinion after relevant consultation with identified experts. The consolidation information, therefore, can only be interpreted as a collation of expert opinion.

The key issues regarding the working environment that the NCOs were asked to consider were:

- Posture and movement exposures
- Physical exposures
- Psycho-social working conditions

For each of the above health related issues, the NCOs were asked to indicate the 5 exposures within each category with the highest risk in PubAd and to identify trends within each of the following risk categories:

- Occupations
- Gender
- Age

The information presented in the following sections of this chapter is in a predefined format which consists of:

- Tables providing a synopsis of relevant data from the 3rd European Survey on Working Conditions (ESWC-data) which is used to draw a European picture
- Comparison between European and national information

## 3.1 Posture and movement exposures

#### Overview



#### **Overview – posture and movement exposures**

The ESWC-data pinpoints the three most important posture and movement exposures in the public administration sector as repetitive movements, strenuous working postures and carrying or moving heavy loads. 57% of all the workers in the EU-15 Member States are exposed to repetitive hand or arm movements, 46% are working in painful or tiring positions and 37% of all workers job involves carrying or moving heavy loads for at least ¼ of their working time. The survey clearly indicates that the respective figures for employees within the public administration sector are below average.

#### 3.1.1 Repetitive hand or arm movements

#### A European picture

#### Percentage of workers whose job involves repetitive hand or arm movements according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	1	L	Р	Е	S	UK
Public admin	istration	47	40	46	46	67	55	36	53	72	32	37	42	59	59	63	53
All sectors to	gether	57	50	49	52	75	63	49	64	67	56	54	49	62	70	65	54
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		gdom		- Finla taly	and	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

#### Percentage of workers whose job involves repetitive hand or arm movements according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	47	40	35	48	50	36	64	68	37	64	46
All sectors together	57	43	37	48	54	51	70	75	77	71	39

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers

Repetitive movements according to gender

7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces







Source: ESWC – data 3<sup>rd</sup> European Survey on Working Conditions, European Foundation, 2000, Dublin

#### Comparison between European and national information

#### General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 57% of all the workers and 47% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to repetitive hand or arm movements for at least ¼ of their working time. Regarding the public administration sector, the information highlights Finland, the Netherlands and Sweden as far above EU-average, whereas in the Netherlands the PubAd rates even higher than the total national average.

A total of eight NCOs presented additional quantitative data extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Denmark, Finland, Germany, Greece, Ireland, the Netherlands, Norway and Sweden. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that the trend is, once again with the exception of the Netherlands, the same. The percentage of workers in PubAd whose job involves repetitive hand or arm movements is usually below average. The Netherlands differs in a unique way from this typical European picture. A national study (Arbolans) pointed out that 34% of PubAd-employees compared with 23% of all Dutch workers are exposed to work repeating the same movement or exerting force with arms or hands several times a minute.

Repetitive movements particularly when combined with a rapid workpace such as in computer related work are commonly viewed as important risk factors in repetitive strain injuries (RSI). It was reported that there is an extended and still increasing use in this type of work (key board/mouse operations) requiring special attention especially in the public administration sector.

#### Occupations at risk

Information from the national reports shows that clerical work is the most frequently identified occupation in PubAd considered to be at risk from repetitive movements. A total of four NCOs (Finland, Netherlands, Sweden, Switzerland) recorded this occupation as being at risk. In the ESWCdata, the occupations highlighted as the highest risk groups in PubAd were "craft and related trade workers", "elementary occupations", "skilled agricultural and fishery workers" and "clerical workers", followed by "armed forces" which are the only group above the average.

#### Gender at risk

From their country reports, two NCOs (Germany and Sweden) identified females and two NCOs (Denmark and Ireland) identified males to be most exposed to repetitive movements in the public administration sector. Finland, Norway and Switzerland reported that there are no differences between male and female employees in PubAd regarding repetitive movements at work. The ESWC-data confirms the latter indication of no difference.

#### Age category at risk

Although no firm conclusions can be drawn with respect to age, comments received drew attention to the younger worker. It was reported in the Finnish, German and Irish country reports that the younger worker (under 25 years old) was frequently more exposed to repetitive tasks and young female employees in particular. The same conclusion can be drawn from the ESWC-data.

#### Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to repetitive movements over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

- Decreased trend (1 NCO): Sweden
- Stable trend (2 NCOs): Greece and Netherlands (except for VDU workers)
- Increased trend (3 NCOs): Finland, Germany and Switzerland

*Comment derived from the country reports:* The increase is due to the increase in the computerisation of tasks. This has resulted in more tasks involving data input to computers. The ESWC-data indicates an increase of 7% for workers in PubAd exposed to repetitive movements between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey) while the overall trend remained stable.

#### Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if in PubAd preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or whether the development of additional preventive action is necessary. The following responses were received:

 Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by three NCOs: Ireland, Netherlands and Sweden

 A need for additional preventive action was indicated by five NCOs: Finland, Germany, Greece, Norway and Switzerland.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* Administrations need to be encouraged to allocate repetitive tasks more evenly so that long periods of repetitive movement are not required of individual workers.

#### 3.1.2 Painful or tiring positions

#### A European picture

#### Percentage of workers whose job involves painful or tiring positions according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	E	S	UK
Public admir	nistration	35	37	33	36	49	38	32	51	19	24	29	38	42	51	39	33
All sectors to	ogether	46	41	40	37	53	58	44	69	32	43	49	41	53	50	52	39
A - Austria EL - Greece E -Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swee	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		dom		- Finla taly	and	F - Fr L - Lu	ance ixembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

#### Percentage of workers whose job involves painful or tiring positions according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	35	15	25	31	30	44	55	58	41	59	40
All sectors together	46	29	32	38	30	49	75	65	60	59	44

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 – Service workers, shop and market sales workers

7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces

60% male female 46% 40% 46% 36% 34% 20% 0% PubAd All Sectors

## Painful or tiring positions according to gender





Source: ESWC – data 3<sup>rd</sup> European Survey on Working Conditions, European Foundation, 2000, Dublin

#### Comparison between European and national information

#### General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 46% of all the workers and 35% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to strenuous working postures for at least ¼ of their working time. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Finland, Greece and Spain as far above EU-average, whereas in Spain the PubAd rates even higher than the total national average.

A total of nine NCOs presented additional quantitative data extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Denmark, Finland, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, the Netherlands, Norway and Sweden. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that the trend reported in the national reports is quite similar. The percentage of workers in PubAd whose job involves painful or tiring positions is a good deal below average in each country mentioned above.

Strenuous working postures are of significant importance, especially when combined with lifting of heavy loads and repetitive work tasks. Poor working posture is a well known aggravating factor for causing disorders of the lower spine. Difficult working positions contribute to the potential risk of work-induced musculoskeletal disorders which are also frequently observed in the public administration sector.

#### Occupations at risk

Information from the national reports shows that the most frequently identified occupations in PubAd considered to be at risk from strenuous working postures are "elementary occupations", "craft and related trades workers" and "skilled agricultural and fishery workers". A total of three NCOs (Finland, Sweden and Switzerland) recorded these occupations as being at risk. In the ESWC-data, the same occupations were highlighted as the highest risk groups in PubAd.

#### Gender at risk

From their country reports, three NCOs (Denmark, Finland and Iceland) identified females and one NCO (Ireland) identified males to be most exposed to strenuous working postures in the public administration sector. Germany, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland reported no differences between male and female employees in PubAd regarding strenuous working postures. The ESWC-data confirm the latter indication of no difference.

#### Age category at risk

In their comments the NCOs considered younger worker more likely at risk from strenuous working postures. It was reported in the country reports from Germany, Norway and Sweden that the younger worker (under 25 years old) was frequently more exposed to strenuous postures. Iceland and Ireland commented that the older workers (> 55 years old) are more exposed. From the ESWC-data, it is not possible to draw a firm conclusion.

#### Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to strenuous working postures over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

- Stable trend (3 NCOs): Greece, Netherlands and Sweden
- Increased trend (4 NCOs): Finland, Germany, Iceland and Switzerland

*Comment derived from the country reports:* The number of persons who are required to remain seated at work for a long period of time is increasing.

The ESWC-data indicates a stable trend in PubAd as well as on EU-average for workers exposed to strenuous working postures between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

#### Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or whether the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by three NCOs: Ireland, Netherlands and Sweden
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by six NCOs: Finland, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Norway and Switzerland.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* Administrations need to be encouraged to distribute tasks more evenly so that long periods without adequate changes of posture are not necessary.

#### 3.1.3 Carrying or moving heavy loads

#### A European picture

#### Percentage of workers whose job involves carrying or moving heavy loads according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	E	S	UK
Public admir	nistration	17	19	23	18	28	24	14	12	5	14	5	21	15	19	19	33
All sectors to	ogether	37	37	33	34	42	42	37	44	28	36	29	27	32	41	44	39
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unit		dom		- Finla taly	and	F - Fr L - Lu	ance Ixembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

#### Percentage of workers whose job involves carrying or moving heavy loads according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	17	3	9	8	6	23	44	69	15	60	32
All sectors together	37	28	14	27	12	39	77	60	61	56	26

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 – Service workers, shop and market sales workers

7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces

#### Carrying or moving heavy loads according to gender



#### Carrying or moving heavy loads according to age



Source: ESWC – data 3<sup>rd</sup> European Survey on Working Conditions, European Foundation, 2000, Dublin

#### Comparison between European and national information

#### General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 37% of all the workers and 17% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to carrying or moving heavy loads for at least ¼ of their working time. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Finland and UK as far above EU-average.

A total of eight NCOs presented additional quantitative data extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Finland, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Iceland, the Netherlands, Norway and Sweden. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that the trend reported in the national reports is quite similar. The percentage of workers in PubAd whose job involves carrying or moving heavy loads is well below average in each country mentioned above.

#### Occupations at risk

Information from the national reports shows that the most frequently identified occupations in PubAd considered to be at risk from carrying or moving heavy loads are "elementary occupations", "craft and related trades workers" and "service workers and shop and market sales workers". A total of two NCOs (Finland and Sweden) recorded these occupations as being at risk. In the ESWC-data, the same occupations were highlighted as the highest risk groups in PubAd in which the PubAd-values of "elementary occupations" and "craft and related trades workers" rates even higher than total national average.

#### Gender at risk

From their country reports, one NCO (Iceland) identified females and two NCOs (Ireland and Sweden) identified males to be most exposed to carrying or moving heavy loads in the public administration sector. Finland, Germany and Norway reported no differences between male and female employees in PubAd regarding the carrying or moving of heavy loads. The ESWC-data clearly indicates that male employees in PubAd as well as in the other sectors are most at risk to this exposure.

#### Age category at risk

No firm conclusion can be drawn with respect to age. In their comments the NCOs considered younger workers (Norway and Sweden) as well as older employees (Finland, Iceland and Ireland) more likely at risk from carrying or moving heavy loads in PubAd. Further more it was reported in the German country report that there are no differences between the age categories. The ESWC-data shows that the younger workers (under 25 years old) are most exposed to carrying or moving heavy loads.

#### Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to carrying or moving heavy loads over the last 10 years?" The following responses were received:

- Decreased trend (3 NCOs): Finland, Germany and Greece
- Stable trend (2 NCOs): Netherlands and Sweden
- Increased trend (1 NCO): Iceland

The ESWC-data indicates an increase of 4% for all workers in the 15 EU states exposed to carrying or moving heavy loads at work between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey) while the respective numbers in the public administration sector decreased by 2%.

#### Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if in PubAd preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or whether additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by five NCOs: Finland, Germany, Ireland, Netherlands and Sweden
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by three NCOs: Greece, Iceland, Norway

## 3.2 Physical exposures

#### Overview

#### **Overview – physical exposures**



The ESWC-data pinpoints the three most important physical exposures in the public administration sector as low temperatures, noise and high temperatures. 21% of all the workers in the EU-15 Member States are exposed to low temperatures, 29% are exposed to noise and 23% are exposed to high temperatures for at least ¼ of their working time. The survey clearly indicates that the respective figures for employees within the public administration sector are below average.

#### 3.2.1 Low temperature

#### A European picture

#### Percentage of workers exposed to low temperatures whether indoors or outdoors according to country

Sector		EU-15							С	ountry							
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	E	S	UK
Public admir	nistration	17	16	20	16	31	22	12	20	13	33	5	17	9	26	12	31
All sectors to	ogether	21	18	17	19	29	26	17	33	16	25	15	19	14	25	17	26
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		Idom		- Finla taly	ind	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

#### Percentage of workers exposed to low temperatures whether indoors or outdoors according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	17	9	5	13	8	40	60	23	35	36	33
All sectors together	21	17	9	13	9	15	52	33	36	31	37

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 – Service workers, shop and market sales workers

7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces

## Exposure to low temperatures according to gender



#### Exposure to low temperature according to age



Source: ESWC – data 3<sup>rd</sup> European Survey on Working Conditions, European Foundation, 2000, Dublin

#### Comparison between European and national information

#### General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 21% of all the workers and 17% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to low temperatures in their working environments for at least ¼ of their working time. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Finland, Ireland, Spain and UK as far above EU-average, and the PubAd rates even higher in these countries than the total national average.

From the information submitted for this project, five NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this exposure category extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Finland, Germany, Greece, Norway and Sweden. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that the trend is very clear. The percentage of workers in PubAd exposed to low temperatures whether indoors or outdoors is below average.

Exposure to low temperature conditions can originate from two principal sources. Firstly, low temperatures can be associated with a particular work process, and secondly, it can be due to local weather conditions. Some countries experience extremely cold conditions during winter months. Therefore exposure to low temperature is prevalent in these countries for outdoor work activities (forestry, farming, fishing etc.). All year round exposure to low temperature is generally associated with a particular work process such as chilling and freezing in the food industry (slaughtering, cold storage etc.).

#### Occupations at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn on this risk category. Only Finland and Sweden provided national data. Information from the Swedish report shows that the most frequently identified occupation category in PubAd considered to be at risk from low temperatures is "skilled agricultural and fishery workers" whereas the country report from Finland indicated employees in "armed forces" as most exposed to low temperatures. In the ESWC-data, the occupations highlighted as the highest risk groups in Pub-Ad were "skilled agricultural and fishery workers", "service workers and shop and market sales workers", "elementary occupations", "plant and machine operators" and "armed forces".

#### Gender at risk

In their country reports, four NCOs (Finland, Germany, Norway and Sweden) identified males to be most exposed to low temperatures at work in the public administration sector. The ESWC-data confirms this indication.

#### Age category at risk

Although no firm conclusions can be drawn with respect to age, comments received drew attention to the younger workers. It was reported in the country reports from Finland, Germany and Norway that the younger and middleaged workers (under 50 years old) were frequently more exposed to low temperatures. The same conclusion can be drawn from the ESWC-data. In general: The older individual is considered to be more susceptible to the ill effects of cold conditions and therefore it is probably the younger worker most frequently exposed to the risk.

#### Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Has there been a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to low temperature over the last 10 years?"

- The following responses were received:
- Decreased trend (1 NCO): Germany
- Stable trend (2 NCOs): Greece and Sweden

The ESWC-data indicates a slight decrease of 1% for workers in PubAd and of 3% for all the workers exposed to low temperature working conditions between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

#### Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if the preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or whether additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by three NCOs: Finland, Germany and Sweden
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by one NCO: Greece.

#### 3.2.2 Noise

#### A European picture

#### Percentage of workers exposed to noise so loud that they have to raise their voice to hold a conversation according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			А	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	Е	S	U
Public administ	tration	15	14	15	17	25	18	9	22	5	24	12	17	21	16	12	28
All sectors toge	ether	29	24	27	30	41	31	29	33	22	34	25	24	28	33	33	29
EL - Greece	B - Belgi NL - Netl S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		gdom		- Finla taly	ind	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

Percentage of workers exposed to noise so loud that they have to raise their voice to hold a conversation according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio				
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	15	2	9	11	6	28	31	52	73	23	34
All sectors together	29	20	17	18	7	17	39	60	58	33	38

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

2 - Professionals

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers
7 - Craft and related trades workers

Exposure to noise according to gender

9 - Elementary occupations

4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces



#### Exposure to noise according to age



Source: ESWC – data 3<sup>rd</sup> European Survey on Working Conditions, European Foundation, 2000, Dublin

#### Comparison between European and national information

#### General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 29% of all the workers and 15% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to noise in their workplace for at least ¼ of their working time. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Finland, Greece, Ireland, Portugal and UK as far above EU-average.

In total seven NCOs delivered additional quantitative data regarding exposure to noise, extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Finland, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Netherlands, Norway and Sweden. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed a high correspondence. The percentage of workers in PubAd exposed to noise so loud that they have to raise their voice to hold a conversation is below average in all the countries mentioned above.

#### Occupations at risk

Information from the national reports shows that the most frequently identified occupation in PubAd considered to be at risk from exposure to noise is "armed forces". A total of three NCOs (Finland, Sweden and Switzerland) recorded this occupation as being at risk. Furthermore, Sweden also indicated "craft and trades related workers" and "plant and machine operators" to be at risk from noise exposure. From the ESWC-data, the occupation categories with the highest percentage of workers reporting exposure to noise in PubAd were "plant and machine operators" and "craft and related trades workers" followed by "armed forces". The rate of "plant and machine operators" is higher than the respective average.

#### Gender at risk

In their country reports, six NCOs (Finland, Germany, Ireland, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland) identified males as being most at risk from noise exposure in the public administration sector. The ESWC-data clearly confirms this indication.

#### Age category at risk

The younger employees were considered by the NCOs to be most vulnerable to noise exposure in the public administration sector. It was reported in the country reports from Finland, Germany, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland that employees between the age of 25 and 55 were frequently more exposed to noise at work. The same conclusion can be drawn from the ESWC-data.

#### Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Has there been a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to noise over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

- Decreased trend (2 NCOs): Germany and Switzerland
- Stable trend (4 NCOs): Finland, Greece, Netherlands and Sweden
- Increased trend (1 NCO): Iceland

*Comment derived from the country reports:* The distribution in sectors and occupations is expected to change as a result of changing work patterns. Many traditionally noisy jobs in industry are being eliminated, or the noise exposure reduced, however, the need for workers to concentrate has increased.

The ESWC-data indicates a decrease of 5% for workers in PubAd exposed to noise between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey) while the overall trend slightly increased by 1%.

#### Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if the preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or whether additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by six NCOs: Finland, Germany, Iceland, Ireland, Netherlands and Sweden
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by two NCOs: Greece and Switzerland

*Comment derived from the country reports:* The nuisance value of noise and its role in stress-related disorders needs to be more addressed than it has been.

#### 3.2.3 **High temperature**

#### A European picture

#### Percentage of workers exposed to high temperatures which cause perspiration even when not working according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			А	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	Е	S	U
Public adminis	stration	15	12	17	5	26	14	14	23	21	17	7	11	8	23	11	25
All sectors tog	lether	23	20	21	16	29	25	22	36	22	19	18	18	17	27	17	25
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swec	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		gdom		- Finla taly	ind	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

#### Percentage of workers exposed to high temperatures which cause perspiration even when not working according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio				
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	15	16	10	15	9	29	53	22	11	26	12
All sectors together	23	17	12	15	9	23	42	35	40	28	11

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

2 - Professionals

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers

7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations

4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces



#### High temperature according to gender





Source: ESWC – data 3<sup>rd</sup> European Survey on Working Conditions, European Foundation, 2000, Dublin

#### Comparison between European and national information

#### General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 23% of all the workers and 15% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to high temperature in the workplace for at least ¼ of their working time. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Finland, Greece, Spain and UK as far above EU-average.

From the information submitted for this project four NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this exposure category extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Finland, Greece, Norway and Sweden. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed a clear correspondence. The percentage of workers in PubAd exposed to high temperatures which cause perspiration even when not working is below average.

#### Occupations at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn on this risk category. Information from the Swedish and Swiss reports showed that in PubAd the most frequently identified occupation category considered to be at risk from high temperatures is "plant and machine operators" whereas the country report from Finland indicated "service workers and shop and market sales workers" as well as employees in "armed forces" as most exposed to high temperatures. In the ESWC-data, the occupations highlighted as the highest risk groups in PubAd were "skilled agricultural and fishery workers", and "service workers and shop and market sales workers", in which the number of exposed workers in both groups are even higher than the respective average.

#### Gender at risk

In their country reports, Sweden identified males to be most exposed to high temperatures at work in the public administration sector while Finland, Norway and Switzerland indicated that there were no differences between male and female workers exposed to this risk factor. The ESWC-data clearly shows that male workers were most exposed to high temperatures in the workplace whether employed in the public administration sector or not.

#### Age category at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn with respect to age. It was reported in the Norwegian and Swedish country reports that there were no differences between age categories at risk whereas Finland identified workers between the age of 25 and 55 and Switzerland reported that the older workers (over 55 years old) were frequently more exposed to high temperatures in the public administration sector. From the ESWC-data it is also not possible to draw a clear conclusion.

#### Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to high temperature over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

- Stable trend (3 NCOs): Greece, Sweden and Switzerland

The ESWC-data indicates a slight increase of 1% for workers in PubAd and of 3% for all the workers exposed to high temperature working conditions between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

#### Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or whether additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by two NCOs: Sweden and Switzerland.
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by two NCOs: Finland and Greece.
# 3.3 Psycho-social working conditions

# Overview





The ESWC-data pinpoints the four most important psycho-social working conditions in the public administration sector as pace of work dictated by social demand, high speed work, monotonous tasks and bullying and victimisation at work. 69% of all the workers in the EU-15 Member States are exposed to a pace of work that is dictated by social demand, 56% reported exposure to high speed work, 40% of all the workers' jobs involve monotonous tasks and 8% reported exposure to bullying and victimisation in the workplace. The trend in the public administration sector is the same, with the exception of bullying and victimisation: The respective figures for employees within the public administration sector are below average.

#### 3.3.1 Pace of work dictated by social demands

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers whose pace of work is dependent on direct demands from people such as customers etc. according to country

Sector		EU-15							С	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	E	S	U
Public admir	nistration	63	52	76	65	72	58	53	64	58	67	77	49	48	43	80	82
All sectors to	ogether	69	70	70	69	75	71	62	71	67	68	69	64	57	65	76	78
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swee	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		dom		- Finla taly	ind	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

# Percentage of workers whose pace of work is dependent on direct demands from people such as customers etc. according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio				
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	63	86	65	61	69	71	88	43	71	33	42
All sectors together	69	83	80	76	75	86	38	57	50	45	52

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

2 - Professionals 3 - Technicians and associate professionals

4 - Clerks 5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers

8 – Plant and machine operators and assemblers
 10 – Armed forces

9 - Elementary occupations

7 – Craft and related trades workers

80% male 69% female 60% 64% 75% 58% 40% 20% 0% PubAd All Sectors

# Pace of work dictated by social demands according to gender





# Comparison between European and national information

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 69% of all the workers and 63% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to a pace of work that was dictated by social demand. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Belgium, Italy, Sweden and UK as being far above EU-average, in which the PubAd-values of all these countries even are higher than the respective national average.

From the information submitted for this project six NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this exposure category extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Denmark, Finland, Germany, Greece, Norway and Sweden. The questions posed in most of the national surveys in the countries mentioned above do not correspondent exactly to the ESWC question though. The ESWC question asks about time constraints at work and specifies the causes (social demands and speed dictated by machines). However in the individual countries the constraints are often not specified by their cause. In the Norwegian Survey on Living Conditions, for instance, the question is related to the possibilities for variation in work (when and how). The questions asked in the survey of the National Institute of Occupational Health in Denmark, in the Finnish Work and Health Survey or in the Swedish Work Environment Statistics relate to the employees own influence on pace of work - if and how they can decide to do their job.

Taking these reservations into account the comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that there were slight differences between national and European sources. The percentage of workers in PubAd whose pace of work is dependent on direct demands from people such as customers or whose pace or amount of work cannot be decided is almost average.

# Occupations at risk

Information from the national reports shows that the most frequently identified occupations in PubAd considered to be at risk from pace of work dictated by social demands are "clerks", "service workers", "technicians" and "professionals". A total of three NCOs (Finland, Sweden and Switzerland) recorded these occupations as being at risk. From the ESWC-data, "skilled agriculture and fishery workers", "legislators, senior officials and managers", "plant and machine operators", "service workers" and "clerks" are the occupation categories with the highest percentage of workers reporting exposure to pace of work dictated by social demands in PubAd.

# Gender at risk

In their country reports, six NCOs (Denmark, Finland, Germany, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland) identified females to be most exposed to pace of work dictated by social demands in the public administration sector. The ESWC-data confirms this indication.

# Age category at risk

No firm conclusions can be drawn with respect to age. It was reported in the country reports from Germany, Norway and Sweden that the younger and middle-aged workers (under 50 years old) were frequently more exposed to pace of work dictated by social demands whereas Finland identified the older workers (over 55 years old) as the most exposed age category. There can be no proper conclusion drawn from the ESWC-data either.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Has there been a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to pace of work dictated by social demand over the last 10 years?" The following responses were received:

- Stable trend (1 NCO): Greece
- Increased trend (4 NCOs): Finland, Germany, Sweden and Switzerland

The ESWC-data indicates a decrease of 5% for workers in PubAd whereas the over all trend increased by 2% between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAD are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

 Development of additional preventive action was indicated by six NCOs: Finland, Germany, Greece, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* There is a need for redistributing tasks and suitable solutions in work organisation.

#### 3.3.2 Working at very high speed

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers whose job involves working at very high speed according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	Е	S	U
Public admir	nistration	48	55	45	62	61	28	53	64	74	47	49	35	53	35	81	53
All sectors to	ogether	56	63	52	59	75	54	59	67	75	48	58	53	50	46	80	48
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		dom		- Finla taly	and	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			<u>.</u>

# Percentage of workers whose job involves working at very high speed according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	48	64	46	64	45	52	21	45	37	27	50
All sectors together	56	52	50	57	54	54	60	63	61	54	56

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers

Working at very high speed according to gender

7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces





# Working at very high speed according to age



# Comparison between European and national information

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 56% of all the workers and 48% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to working at high speed for at least ¼ of their working time. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Denmark, Finland, Greece, the Netherlands and Sweden as being far above EU-average, in which the Pub-Ad-values of Denmark and Sweden (also Portugal and UK) even are higher than the respective national average.

From the information submitted for this project nine NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this exposure category extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Denmark, Finland, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Netherlands, Norway and Sweden. The questions posed in several of the national surveys in the above-mentioned countries do not correspondent exactly to the ESWC question though. Often the questions asked in the national surveys or statistics are related to time pressure, working pressure, stressful work etc. which is close to the concept of high speed work. In the Norwegian Survey on Living Conditions, for instance, the question is related to the time to do the work properly. The question asked in the survey of the National Institute of Occupational Health in Denmark relates to the high quantitative demands and in the Swedish Work Environment Statistics the question relates to employees with such stressful work that they cannot talk or think about anything else.

In spite of these reservations the comparison of ESWCdata and national data showed that there were very few differences. The percentage of workers in PubAd whose job involves working at very high speed is slightly below average, with the exception of the Netherlands and Norway. National surveys of the Netherlands and Norway pointed out that PubAd-employees are exposed to high speed work at a higher level than their respective national average.

# Occupations at risk

Information from the national reports shows that the most frequently identified occupations in PubAd considered to be at risk from high speed work are "legislators, senior officials and managers", "professionals", "technicians" and "clerks". A total of three NCOs (Finland, Sweden and Switzerland) recorded these occupations as being at risk. From the ESWC-data, this indication is more or less confirmed.

# Gender at risk

From their country reports, two NCOs (Denmark and Finland) identified females and one NCO (Germany) identified males to be most exposed to high speed work in the public administration sector. Norway, Sweden and Switzerland reported that there are no differences between male and female employees in PubAd regarding this risky working condition. The ESWC-data identified female employees in PubAd as the group with the highest percentage of workers exposed to high speed work.

# Age category at risk

Neither can any firm conclusions be drawn with respect to age. It was reported in the country reports from Iceland, Norway and Switzerland that the younger and middleaged workers (under 50 years old) were frequently more exposed to high speed work, whereas Finland identified the older workers (over 55 years old) as the most exposed age category. Germany, Ireland and Sweden indicated that there appear to be no differences between the age categories. The ESWC-picture clearly shows that the younger working generation is most at risk to the listed exposure indicator.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to high speed work over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

- Stable trend (2 NCOs): Netherlands and Switzerland
- Increased trend (4 NCOs): Finland, Germany, Greece and Sweden

*Comment derived from the country reports:* A decrease in the amount of high speed work in the manufacturing sector has been offset by an increase in the financial sector. The ESWC-data indicates an increase by 4% for workers in PubAd and the over all trend increased by 2% between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by one NCO: Netherlands.
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by six NCOs: Finland, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* Administrations need to be encouraged to redistribute tasks so that long periods of high speed work are not required. Investigation of solutions in work organisation should also be encouraged.

#### 3.3.3 Monotonous tasks

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers whose job involves monotonous tasks according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	Е	S	U
Public administ	ration	35	32	21	32	55	38	21	50	10	48	31	35	39	65	19	55
All sectors toge	ether	40	26	31	37	49	41	26	57	27	53	35	29	43	60	26	57
EL - Greece	B - Belgi NL - Netl S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		Jdom		- Finla taly	ind	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

# Percentage of workers whose job involves monotonous tasks according occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	35	17	24	27	39	40	13	45	25	51	47
All sectors together	40	37	25	28	43	39	46	44	56	56	39

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers
7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces



## Monotonous tasks according to gender





# Comparison between European and national information

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 40% of all the workers and 35% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to monotonous work in the workplace. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Finland, Greece, Spain and UK as far above EU-average, whereas in Finland and Spain the PubAd rates even higher than the total national average.

A total of five NCOs presented additional quantitative data extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Germany, Greece, Ireland, the Netherlands and Norway. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that the picture is quite similar. The percentage of workers in PubAd whose job involves monotonous tasks is below average.

# Occupations at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn on this risk category. Information was only presented from Switzerland. It showed that the most frequently identified occupation categories in PubAd considered to be at risk from monotonous tasks are "clerks" and "elementary occupations". In the ESWC-data, the occupations "elementary occupations" and "armed forces" were highlighted as the highest risk groups in PubAd.

# Gender at risk

From their country reports, two NCOs (Germany and Switzerland) identified females to be most exposed in the public administration sector to monotonous tasks. Norway reported that there are no differences between male and female employees in PubAd regarding this exposure indicator. The ESWC-data identified male employees in PubAd as the group with the highest percentage of workers exposed to monotonous tasks.

# Age category at risk

Neither can any firm conclusions can be drawn with respect to age. It was reported in the country reports from Germany and Norway that the younger workers (under 25 years old) were frequently more exposed to monotonous work whereas Switzerland stated that there seems to be no differences between the age categories. There is no proper conclusion to be drawn from the ESWC-data either.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to monotonous work over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

 Stable trend (3 NCOs): Germany, Greece and Switzerland

The ESWC-data indicates a decrease of 3% for workers in PubAd and the over all trend decreased by 5% between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by one NCO: Norway.
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by two NCOs: Greece and Switzerland.

#### 3.3.4 **Bullying and victimisation**

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers that, over the last 12 months, when at work, have been subjected to intimidation according to country

Sector		EU-15	A         B         DK         FIN         F         D         EL         NL         IRL         I         L         P         E         S           I         7         20         6         18         16         15         11         17         15         3         3         3         13         28														
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	E	S	U
Public admir	istration	14	7	20	6	18	16	15	11	17	15	3	3	3	13	28	25
All sectors to	gether	8	6	11	8	15	10	7	5	14	10	4	7	4	5	12	14
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Irela		gdom		- Finla taly	and		ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

# Percentage of workers that, over the last 12 months, when at work, have been subjected to intimidation according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio				
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	14	17	12	19	10	38	7	13	2	11	4
All sectors together	8	11	9	10	8	13	2	5	7	9	3

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals 5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers

4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces

9 - Elementary occupations

7 - Craft and related trades workers

2 - Professionals



# Bullying and victimisation according to gender

# Bullying and victimisation according to age



# Comparison between European and national information

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 8% of all the workers and 14% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed reported exposure to bullying and victimisation in the workplace over the last 12 months. Among all the sectors the public administration sector is most at risk from bullying and victimisation. The information from the European survey highlights Belgium, Sweden and UK as far above EU-average within the public administration sector.

From the information submitted for this project only two NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this exposure category extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Greece and Norway. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that there were differences between national and European data sources. The percentage of workers that, over the last 12 months, when at work, have been subjected to intimidation in PubAd is below average in each of the countries mentioned above.

# Occupations at risk

It was not possible to draw any firm conclusion from the national reports with respect to occupation. Information from Switzerland stated that the occupations in PubAd considered to be at risk from bullying and victimisation are "clerks" and "professionals". According to the ESWC-data the occupation categories "service workers" and "technicians and associate professionals" are the groups with the highest percentage of workers exposed to bullying and victimisation in PubAd.

## Gender at risk

Neither can any firm conclusions be drawn with respect to gender. Two NCOs (Norway and Switzerland) reported that there were no differences between male and female employees in PubAd exposed to the listed exposure. The ESWC-data confirms this expert opinion.

# Age category at risk

A similar unclear picture is given concerning the question which age group is most at risk from bullying and victimisation. It was reported in the country reports from Norway and Switzerland that there were no differences. The ESWCdata shows that the younger workers (under 40 years) seem to be most at risk to the listed exposure indicator.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd exposed to bullying and victimisation over the last 10 years?"

- The following responses were received:
- Decreased trend (1 NCO): Greece

 Increased trend (2 NCOs): Netherlands and Switzerland Comment derived from the country reports: There is an increase in attention currently focused on this issue but long term data are not available to establish whether a trend actually exists.

The ESWC-data indicates a slight increase of 1% for workers in PubAd and the overall trend remained stable between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

 A need for additional preventive action was indicated by three NCOs: Greece, Netherlands and Switzerland.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* Little attention has been focused on this issue up to now. Only few studies are underway to better evaluate the incidence and distribution. There is a need for research and development of preventive measures.

# 4. Occupational health results in the public administration sector

This chapter looks at the consequences and results of the effects of occupational hazards in PubAd workplaces. Just as previous it contains quantitative and qualitative information from the participating European countries and it must once again be emphazised that the method by which each NCO derived responses to particular questions was different. In many cases statistical data was not available and the information provided by individual NCOs merely represents their expert opinion after relevant consultation with identified experts.

Information about the following occupational health outcomes will be presented:

- Work-related disorders
- Work satisfaction
- Occupational sickness absence

For each of the above occupational health related issues, the NCOs were asked to provide information for PubAd in their countries, to compare the results with the generell situation and to identify trends within each of the following risk categories:

- Occupations
- Gender
- Age

The information presented in the following sections of this chapter is in the same way as before and consists of:

- Tables providing a synopsis of relevant data from the 3rd European Survey on Working Conditions (ESWC-data) which is used to draw a European picture
- Comparison between European and national information

# 4.1 Work-related disorders

# Overview

# **Overview – work-related disorders**



The ESWC-data pinpoints the three most important work-related disorders in the public administration sector as stress, backache and muscular pains in shoulders and neck. 28% of all the workers in the EU-15 Member States interviewed in the survey reported experiencing stress, 33% is suffering backache and 23% of all the workers complains about muscular pains in shoulders and neck whilst at work. The survey indicates that the respective figures for employees within the public administration sector are, with the exception of stress, slightly below average.

#### 4.1.1 Stress

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers whose job causes stress problems according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	Е	S	U
Public admini	stration	29	21	38	24	46	26	19	58	32	15	40	21	30	29	45	67
All sectors tog	gether	28	19	30	26	35	33	25	53	25	12	33	38	18	29	37	23
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swec	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		gdom		- Finla taly	ind	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

# Percentage of workers whose job causes stress problems according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	28	39	35	37	25	45	20	18	24	14	21
All sectors together	29	32	40	35	25	27	18	23	29	17	17

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers
7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces



# Stress according to gender

# Stress according to age



4. Occupational health results in the public administration sector

# Comparison between European and national information

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 28% of all the workers and 29% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed in the survey reported experiencing stress at work. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Finland, Greece, Italy, Sweden and UK as being far above EU-average.

From the information submitted for this project six NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this exposure category extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Germany, Greece, Iceland, Netherlands, Sweden and UK. The questions posed in the national surveys of the above-mentioned countries sometimes do not correspondent exactly to the ESWC question though. The question asked in the Icelandic survey, for instance, is related to mental exhaustion after shift, and the Arbomonitor survey in the Netherlands relates to psychological strain. However, in a broad sense the findings obtained are roughly the same as in the European picture.

The percentage of workers in PubAd whose work causes stress problems is well above average in all the countries providing national data.

# Occupations at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn on this risk category. Information was only submitted from Sweden. It showed that the most frequently identified occupation categories in PubAd considered to be at risk to stress in the workplace are "professionals", "legislators, senior officials and managers", "service workers" and "clerks". From the European picture, the ESWC-data highlights the occupations "service workers", "legislators, senior officials and managers" and "professionals" as being most at risk to stress at work in PubAd.

# Gender at risk

From their country reports, most of the NCOs reported that there are no differences between male and female employees in PubAd regarding stress related problems at work. Only Sweden indicated females to be most at risk from stress in the public administration sector. The ESWC-data identified female employees in PubAd as the group with the highest percentage of workers reporting stress at work.

# Age category at risk

Neither can any firm conclusions be drawn with respect to age. It was commented in the country reports from Iceland that stress frequently affects the younger and middle-aged workers (under 50 years old). The ESWC-picture clearly shows that the working generation in the age of 25-54 is most at risk to the listed exposure indicator.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd suffering stress over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

- Stable trend (1 NCO): Greece

Increased trend (3 NCOs): Germany, Sweden and UK
 The ESWC-data indicates that both, the trend for workers
 in PubAd and the over all trend as well, remained stable
 between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by one NCO: United Kingdom.
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by three NCOs: Germany, Greece and Sweden.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* With regard to the increase of stress related problems at work you find an alarming development. One have to put special efforts on work organisation and public leadership and management.

#### 4.1.2 Backache

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers whose job causes backache according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	Е	S	U
Public administ	tration	29	38	26	24	28	34	31	21	16	8	23	17	27	42	26	24
All sectors toge	ether	33	29	27	30	38	40	34	43	26	11	36	34	34	43	35	23
EL - Greece	B - Belgi NL - Netl S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		gdom		- Finla taly	and	F - Fra L - Lu	ance xembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

# Percentage of workers whose job causes backache according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	29	28	25	20	27	31	53	35	38	49	25
All sectors together	33	22	23	31	23	31	57	45	44	40	20

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers 3 - Technicians and associate professionals

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers
7 - Craft and related trades workers
9 - Elementary occupations



# Backache according to gender





4. Occupational health results in the public administration sector

# Comparison between European and national information

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 33% of all the workers and 29% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed in the survey reported experiencing backache whilst at work. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Austria, France and Spain as being far above EU-average.

From the information submitted for this project four NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this exposure category extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Germany, Greece, Sweden and UK. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that the picture is, with the exception of UK, quite similar. The percentage of workers in PubAd whose job causes backache is usually below average. UK stated that the figures for spine/back related disorders are significantly higher in the public administration sector.

# Occupations at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn on this risk category. Information was only submitted from Sweden and Switzerland. It showed that the most frequently identified occupation categories in PubAd considered to be at risk to backache in the workplace are "skilled agriculture and fishery workers", "elementary occupations" (2x), "service workers" and "craft and related trades workers". From the European picture, the Swedish and Swiss results could be confirmed by the ESWC-data.

# Gender at risk

From their country reports, most of the NCOs reported that there are no differences between male and female employees in PubAd regarding backache at work. The ESWC-data identified female employees in PubAd as the group with the highest percentage of workers reporting backache in the workplace.

# Age category at risk

Neither can any firm conclusions be drawn with respect to age. It was commented in the country report from Switzerland that backache frequently affects the middle-aged workers (25-54 years old) and in the country report from Germany backache at work seems to raise with age. The ESWC-picture clearly shows that backache is raising with age thus the older working generation (more than 55 years old) is most at risk to the listed exposure indicator.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd experiencing backache over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

- Stable trend (1 NCO): Greece
- Increased trend (4 NCOs): Germany, Sweden, Switzerland and UK

The ESWC-data indicates an increase by 4% for workers in PubAd and the over all trend increased by 3% between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by two NCOs: Sweden and UK.
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by three NCOs: Germany, Greece and Switzerland.

#### 4.1.3 Muscular pains in shoulders and neck

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers whose job causes muscular pains in shoulders and neck according to country

Sector		EU-15							C	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	E	S	U
Public admir	nistration	20	19	19	31	59	19	19	17	20	3	17	11	17	27	46	19
All sectors to	ogether	23	17	17	33	54	25	21	29	23	8	20	13	21	31	41	17
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swec	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		gdom		- Finla taly	and	F - Fr L - Lu	ance Ixembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

# Percentage of workers whose job causes muscular pains in shoulders and neck according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	20	19	8	21	20	22	5	26	35	41	19
All sectors together	23	15	16	22	18	20	35	30	29	28	15

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers

7 - Craft and related trades workers

2 - Professionals 4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces

# 30%

Muscular pains in shoulders and neck according to gender



# Muscular pains in shoulders and neck according to age



<sup>9 -</sup> Elementary occupations

# Comparison between European and national information

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 23% of all the workers and 20% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed in the survey reported experiencing muscular pains in shoulders and neck whilst at work. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Denmark, Finland and Sweden as being far above EU-average.

From the information submitted for this project four NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this exposure category extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Germany, Greece, Sweden and UK. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that the picture is different. On the one handside Germany and UK indicated that the percentage of workers in PubAd whose job causes backache is significantly higher in the public administration sector. On the other handside Greece and Sweden stated that the figures for neck/ shoulder related disorders are like or below their total national average.

# Occupations at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn on this risk category. Information was only submitted from Sweden and Switzerland. It showed that the most frequently identified occupation categories in PubAd considered to be at risk from pains in shoulders and neck in the workplace are, "elementary occupations" (2x), "skilled agriculture and fishery workers" and "clerks". From the European picture, the ESWC-data highlights the occupations "elementary occupations" and "plant and machine operators" as being most at risk to shoulder and neck disorders at work in PubAd.

# Gender at risk

From their country reports, most of the NCOs identified females and one NCO (UK) identified males to be most at risk from shoulder and neck problems at work in the public administration sector. Denmark reported that according the national survey many female clerks in PubAd have problems with their neck. The ESWC-data also identified female employees in PubAd as the group with the highest percentage of workers reporting pains in shoulders and neck in the workplace.

# Age category at risk

Although no firm conclusions can be drawn with respect to age, comments received drew attention to the middleaged and older workers. It was reported in the German, Swedish and Swiss country reports that the older workers (over 25 years old) were frequently more exposed to shoulder and neck disorders. The same conclusion can be drawn from the ESWC-data.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd suffering muscular pains in shoulders and neck over the last 10 years?" The following responses were received:

- Decreased trend (1 NCO): United Kingdom
- Stable trend (1 NCO): Greece
- Increased trend (3 NCOs): Germany, Sweden and Switzerland

*Comment derived from the country reports:* As in all industrialised countries the work population is ageing (as shown above particularly in PubAd) therefore work related disorders are increasing. Musculoskeletal disorders in the workplace increased due to large uptake of computers and is moving towards service sectors.

There is no trend indication available from the ESWC-data.

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by two NCOs: Sweden and UK.
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by three NCOs: Germany, Greece and Switzerland.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* For the time beeing there is a lot of attention to work related disorders, particularly to musculoskeletal and mental disorders. Nevertheless it is important in order to develop appropriate strategies and preventive measures to record and analyze through statistical tools the extent of the problem. In many countries there is a significant lack of data, particularly regarding the public administration sector.

# 4.2 Work satisfaction

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers who are satisfied with the working conditions in their job according to country

Sector		EU-15							С	ountry	/						
			Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL	I	L	Р	Е	S	U
Public admini	istration	86	82	83	96	92	87	93	75	90	89	82	88	81	79	86	81
All sectors to	gether	84	85	88	95	92	81	87	65	87	92	78	87	80	76	85	90
A - Austria EL - Greece E - Spain	B - Belgi NL - Net S - Swed	herlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		gdom		FIN - Finland F - France D - Germany I - Italy L - Luxembourg P - Portugal									

# Percentage of workers who are satisfied with the working conditions in their job according to occupation

Sector	EU-15					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration	86	87	86	85	88	88	93	88	66	83	81
All sectors together	84	92	90	89	87	84	75	79	76	76	84

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers 3 - Technicians and associate professionals

2 - Professionals

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers

7 - Craft and related trades workers

9 - Elementary occupations

4 - Clerks

6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
10 - Armed forces



# Work satisfaction according to gender





4. Occupational health results in the public administration sector

# **Comparison between European and national information**

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data shows that 84% of all the workers and 86% of the employees in the public administration sector interviewed in the survey expressed a very high or a fair degree of satisfaction with the working conditions in their job. Regarding the public administration sector the information highlights Greece and Spain employees as being the most dissatisfied.

From the information submitted for this project eight NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this health outcome indicator extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Germany, Finland, Iceland, Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland and UK. The comparison of ESWC-data and national data showed that the picture is quite similar. The percentage of workers in PubAd who are very or fairly satisfied with their working conditions is usually like or above average. Germany stated that satisfaction with prospect of professional promotion and working atmosphere has a particular low level in PubAd compared to the other sectors. On the other hand the Netherlands commented that public servants are particularly satisfied with secondary working conditions and salary.

# Occupations at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn on this risk category. Information was only submitted from Finland, Sweden and Switzerland. It showed that the most frequently identified occupation categories in PubAd considered to be at particular low level of work satisfaction are "plant and machine operators", "elementary occupations" and "clerks". From the European picture, the ESWC-data highlights the occupations "plant and machine operators", "armed forces" and "elementary occupations" as being most dissatisfied at work in PubAd.

# Gender at risk

From their country reports, two NCOs (Sweden and Switzerland) identified females and one NCO (UK) identified males who have a particular low level of satisfaction with their working conditions in the public administration sector. Germany, Iceland and Norway reported that there are no differences in gender. From the European picture, the ESWC-data confirms the latter indication.

# Age category at risk

It was commented in the country reports from Finland, Germany, the Netherlands, Iceland and Norway that older workers in PubAd seem to be more satisfied with their working conditions while Switzerland identified the older working population as beeing more dissatisfied. According to the ESWC-data no firm conclusions can be drawn with respect to age.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* Younger employees in the private sector are more satisfied than their colleagues in the public administration sector. Usually employees who are older or/and well educated are more satisfied with their jobs.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding the number of workers in PubAd with low level of work satisfaction over the last 10 years?" The following responses were received:

- Stable trend (2 NCOs): Finland and Norway
- Increased trend (2 NCOs): Germany and Sweden

*Comment derived from the country reports:* During the 90ies there has been a remarkable reduction of manpower in the public administration sector. One of the most significant changes has been the growth of insecurity in this sector, which before was considered as predictable and stable.

The ESWC-data indicates an increase by 3% for workers in PubAd who are dissatisfied with their working conditions while the over all trend remained stable between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by one NCO: Finland.
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by two NCOs: Germany and Sweden.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* The number of the employees who were *very satisfied* with their work, has increased in general. Employees working in financial institutions and public administrations are on the top of this list.

# 4.3 Occupational sickness absence

# Overview

# **Overview – occupational sickness absence**



The issue regarding absenteeism in the 3<sup>rd</sup> European survey is split into three questions: Absences due to an occupational accident, absences due to health problems caused by work and absences due to other health problems. The ESWC-data points out that 6% of all the workers in the EU-15 Member States reported absences due to an accident, 9% due to occupational health problems and over 1/3 reported absences due to other health problems. The trend in the public administration sector is the same, with the exception of accidents: The respective figures for employees within the public administration sector are above average.

4. Occupational health results in the public administration sector

# A European picture

# Percentage of workers who, over the past 12 months, were absent due to illness according to country

Sector	EU			7     9     6     9     2     5     4     4     7     4     6												
		Α	В	DK	FIN	F	D	EL	NL	IRL		L	Ρ	Е	S	U
Public administration – Due to accident at work	5	4	7	1	10	2	7	1	8	4	3	4	1	7	_	8
<ul> <li>Due to work-related health problems</li> </ul>	11	6	11	4	16	9	12	7	19	2	6	9	4	16	7	16
<ul> <li>Due to other health problems</li> </ul>	38	46	34	61	44	25	43	23	51	37	53	30	30	27	52	27
All sectors together – Due to accident at work	6	6	7	7	9	6	9	2	5	4	4	7	4	6	5	5
<ul> <li>Due to work-related health problems</li> </ul>	9	13	9	9	18	8	11	5	17	5	7	12	4	8	13	8
<ul> <li>Due to other health problems</li> </ul>	35	35	32	53	48	22	40	19	43	33	41	33	21	20	49	32
A - Austria B - Belgi EL - Greece NL - Net E - Spain S - Swee	nerlands	IRL	- Denr - Irela - Unite		gdom		- Finla taly	and	F - Fra L - Lu	ance ixembo	ourg		Germa Portug			

# Percentage of workers who, over the past 12 months, were absent due to illness according to occupation

Sector	EU					Occu	patio	n			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Public administration – Due to accident at work	5	7	2	5	2	19	1	8	7	5	7
<ul> <li>Due to work-related health problems</li> </ul>	11	21	5	14	10	17	1	10	6	16	8
<ul> <li>Due to other health problems</li> </ul>	38	27	46	36	38	36	33	27	75	38	26
All sectors together – Due to accident at work	6	3	3	3	3	7	8	11	10	7	6
<ul> <li>Due to work-related health problems</li> </ul>	9	6	8	10	6	9	10	11	11	11	7
<ul> <li>Due to other health problems</li> </ul>	35	25	36	37	37	32	20	35	35	32	22

1 - Legislators, senior officials and managers

3 - Technicians and associate professionals

2 - Professionals 4- Clerks

5 - Service workers, shop and market sales workers
 7 - Craft and related trades workers
 9 - Elementary occupations
 6 - Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
 8 - Plant and machine operators and assemblers
 10 - Armed forces



Absence due to illness according to gender in PubAd





Source: ESWC – data 3<sup>rd</sup> European Survey on Working Conditions, European Foundation, 2000, Dublin

# Comparison between European and national information

# General situation

From a European picture, the ESWC-data indicates that the employees in the public administration sector interviewed in the survey were – with the exception of absences due to occupational accidents – more frequently absent from work than their colleagues in the private sectors. Furthermore the information highlights Finland, the Netherlands and UK as being far above EU-average regarding absences due to occupational accidents in PubAd, and Finland, the Netherlands, Spain and UK as being far above EU-average concerning the absences due to occupational health problems in PubAd. Employees of the public administration sector from Denmark, Italy and Sweden seem to be most at risk from sickness absence due to other health problems. From the information submitted for this project ten NCOs presented additional quantitative data in relation to this health outcome indicator extracted from national statistics or surveys in their country reports: Austria, Germany, Denmark, Finland, Greece, Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland and UK. The absence data due to illness delivered from the above-mentioned countries does not correspondent exactly to the ESWC-data though. Sometimes the data refers to all sickness absence cases, not only to occupational sickness absence, sometimes the figures are aggregated, that is to say including accidents, childbirth, absence due to personal/family reasons etc., in other cases they are not. On the one hand the data reported by the individual countries reflects the actual illness cases, on the

other hand it is taken from a survey considering the subjective ailments. Due to the differences between the national and European data sources any exact evaluation and comparison is difficult, of course.

However, in spite of these reservations the trend indicated in most of the national reports as well as drawn in the European picture is the same and very clear: The percentage of workers who is absent from work due to illness is, with the exception of accident related absences, significantly higher in the public administration sector than in the other business sectors. Only Norway and Switzerland reported that the sick leave rates for employees in PubAd are below national average.

# Occupations at risk

No firm conclusions could be drawn on this risk category. Information was only presented from Switzerland. It showed that the most frequently identified occupation category in PubAd considered to be at risk from absence due to illness is "clerks". From the European picture, within the public administration sector the occupation categories "skilled agricultural and fishery workers" and "craft and related trades workers" seem to be most vulnerable for having absences due to accidents at work, the occupations "legislators, senior officials and managers", "service workers" and "elementary occupations" were highlighted as the highest risk groups in absences due to occupational health problems and "professionals" and "plant and machine operators" as being most at risk from absences due to other health problems.

# Gender at risk

From their country reports, the picture available is very clear: Most of the NCOs (Austria, Denmark, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland) indicated that sickness absence is frequently more usual among females than among males in the public administration sector. Once again with the exception of accident related absences the European ESWC-data confirms this indication.

# Age category at risk

It was commented in the country reports from Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal that high sick leave rates are more common amongst older workers while Switzerland identified the younger employees in PubAd as beeing more at risk from absence due to illness. According to the ESWC-data younger people are more vulnerable for accidents at work whereas absences due to other health problems is raising with age.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* As a general pattern there are higher levels of absenteeism among older workers, women and larger organisations. Public admin-

istration workers have a higher level of absences due to illness, explainable by the fact that public employees are older on average. The sickness absence is remarkable high for municipalities compared with the regional and central level.

# Trend

Each NCO was asked: "Is there a significant trend regarding ocuupational sickness absences in PubAd over the last 10 years?"

The following responses were received:

- Stable trend (2 NCOs): Germany (on a very high level) and Norway
- Increased trend (4 NCOs): Finland, Netherlands, Sweden and Switzerland

*Comment derived from the country reports:* The amount of sickness absence depends to a large degree on economic prosperity. In times of recession absence rates usually decrease. A trend has, however, been found that although the frequency of small periods of absence decreases, the frequency of lengthy absences increases. This has been interpreted as an indicator that frequent short absences are used as a coping device. When this is no longer utilised the frequency of serious health disturbances increases. There is no trend indication available from the ESWC-data due to the changes in questions between 1995 (2<sup>nd</sup> survey) and 2000 (3<sup>rd</sup> survey).

# Evaluation of preventive actions

NCOs were asked to indicate if preventive actions taken or planned in PubAd are sufficient to deal with the existing related problems or the development of additional preventive action is necessary.

The following responses were received:

- Preventive actions taken or planned are sufficient to deal with the existing exposure related problems was indicated by one NCO: Netherlands.
- A need for additional preventive action was indicated by three NCOs: Germany, Finland and Sweden.

*Comment derived from the country reports:* High priority is given for occupational sickness absences in the Netherlands and Sweden even at governmental level. In the Netherlands the national target is set that sickness absence should decrease from 7,7% to 6,7% by the year 2003. To achieve this goal there is special attention for working pressure, which is to be seen as one of the most important occupational risk factors, and RSI. The Swedish government put forward a so called 11-point-programme to tackle the occupational absence problem. Emphasis in the future should also be directed towards establishing better monitoring methods for sickness absences.

This chapter summarises the main results on the current status of workplace health promotion and occupational health and safety in the public administration sector. The information provided for this purpose from the individual countries includes a common pool of views and elements which is important for all occupational health and safety systems in Europe:

- Statutory occupational health and safety requirements
- Workplace health promotion above and beyond statutory requirements

# 5.1 Legislation and statutory requirements

Important general conditions for occupational health and safety have changed with the adaptation of the EU-Framework Directive on the "Implementation of Measures to Improve the Health and Safety of Employees at Work" to national legislation during the 90ies. The definition of occupational health and safety and in particular health has become more comprehensive and geared to prevention. The focus is now on preventive and cause-oriented risk avoidance, adaptation of the working conditions to people (not vice versa) and on the development of a comprehensive occupational health and safety policy which is not solely aimed at preventing accidents at work and paying compensation.

Regarding the public administration sector, the EU framework legislation also resulted in important amendments and changes to most of the national occupational health and safety regulations. In many countries no generally applicable occupational health and safety regulations existed for all organisations and enterprises before. For example, some regulations exempted employees in the public administration sector or in enterprises below a certain size from providing occupational health services or from representation regarding occupational health and safety issues.

Implementing the EU directives led to broad-based standardisation in the sense that major national occupational health and safety regulations regarding labour inspection, occupational health services and risk assessment at the workplace now covers more or less all public and private organisations and enterprises, regardless of size and sector.

The reports available from the individual countries confirm that, despite different structures, qualifications, skills and responsibilities of the labour inspectors, their occupational health and safety strategies show more and more similarities (cf. also Piotet 1996; Walters 1997). All countries have a statutory mandate which goes beyond the traditional tasks of labour inspection. In addition to monitoring the observance and application of statutory occupational health and safety regulations, inspectors' duties have generally been expanded in two directions.

For instance, what is to be inspected and monitored has changed. Now inspectors have to look beyond working conditions which may lead to accidents and occupational diseases and look at work organisation, work content, psychosocial stress etc.

The inspection and monitoring mandate has also been extended to include consultancy and information. The employers, who are ultimately responsible in all countries for occupational health and safety, are to be advised and informed by the inspectors as to how they should carry out their obligations.

However, first of all restrictions in terms of resources stand in the way of the implementation of this new mandate. Almost all national reporters mention the problem of too few staff and insufficient funds to discharge their duties. In all the countries participating, with the exception of Germany, labour inspectors are not assigned specifically to the public sector.

Country	Number of employees per inspector
Austria	9.831
Belgium	18.857
Denmark	8.438
Finland	5.443
France	13.796
Germany	3.632
Greece	24.288
lceland	10.000
Ireland	22.071
Italy	5.550
Liechtenstein/Switzerlar	nd 10.000
Luxembourg	11.045
Netherlands	18.732
Norway	13.700
Portugal	14.170
Spain	18.973
Sweden	10.000
United Kingdom	3.406

# Inspector resources in European countries

Source: Own calculations to European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2000; Country reports

Due to limited resources, labour inspection is usually concentrated on high-risk work sites in most countries. As the public administration sector is regarded as harmless in this respect, only very few visits of the labour inspection probably occur. However, Denmark, Germany, Iceland, the Netherlands, Norway and Sweden make particular efforts or have programmes and campaigns targeted specifically at the public administration sector focused on the increasing psycho-social working strains in this area. This includes publicising and promoting the new statutory position and alerting people to its implementation.

In most of the countries involved, there is a legal obligation to provide health care for the employees through occupational health and safety services. In Ireland and the United Kingdom employers traditionally have a wide latitude in terms of setting up OHS services and company health care provision for employees is voluntary. In Denmark, occupational safety and medical care in the public administration sector is also regulated on a voluntary basis. On the whole, relatively good care is found in Denmark (70%), Finland (90%), Germany (50-70%), the Netherlands (98%), Norway (60%) and Sweden (72%).

As for the employees in the public administration sector, the situation in most of the countries involved is more favourable than in the private business sectors. This is obvious, for instance, from the proportion of public sector organisations to have conducted a risk assessment or have established health and safety committees and representatives. They are more common in the public administration sector (like in larger companies) according to the country reports from Denmark, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway and Sweden.

# 5.2 Workplace health promotion

Health promotion (according to the criteria set out in the WHO's Ottawa Charter and the Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion in the European Union) clearly goes above and beyond traditional, regulated occupational safety and health. Workplace health promotion includes issues such as job satisfaction, personal autonomy and social relationships. Health-promoting measures must be geared to the enterprise as a whole and should include its technical, organisational, social and communicative dimensions. The key requirements are as following:

- WHP must be characterised by the fact that not only statutory requirements are satisfied but also additional voluntary measures on health promotion are implemented.
- The measures must include activities which are geared both to a healthy work organisation and organisational structure and to a more healthy lifestyle (condition and behaviour orientation).
- The health promotion measures must be based on a thorough analysis of the current situation which is substantiated by health-relevant information, in particular on the employees, e.g. staff survey on subjectively perceived work stresses or health disorders (planning).
- The employees must be involved as much as possible in the decisions, planning and measures (participation).

- The health promotion measures must be integrated as much as possible into the existing authority structures and procedures (integration).
- The results of the health promotion measures must be measured on the basis of verifiable indicators, e.g. staff satisfaction, citizen satisfaction, absenteeism rate, productivity etc. (evaluation); (cf. also the quality criteria for workplace health promotion in the previous projects of the ENWHP).

The implementation of such projects is, however, relatively costly and not very widespread. Results from surveys on the level of dissemination of workplace health promotion measures are only available from Finland, Germany and the Netherlands. With respect to the public administration sector, the trend is the same in the above-mentioned countries: In organisations and authorities of the public administration sector the likelihood of WHP measures being implemented is greater than in private sector companies. Whereas in Germany workplace health promotion is on the agenda in 17% of enterprises in the private sector, the corresponding figure is more than 29% in public authorities and companies. In Finland the respective figures are 74% to 96% and in the Netherlands 27% to 88%.

In the current project the NCOs were requested to answer the following questions on the significance and dissemination of workplace health promotion in the public administration sector in their countries and make a comparison with the private sector:

- What type of workplace health promotion activities are offered in public administration?
- What are the reasons for the introduction of WHP activities in public administration?
- What results/benefits are linked to the implementation of WHP measures in public administration?
- What organisations/people conduct WHP activities in public administration?

The following 10 countries answered the questions on the dissemination and significance of workplace health promotion in public administration:

Austria, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Iceland, the Netherlands, Norway and the United Kingdom.

Whereas the information from Finland, Germany and the Netherlands is based on representative surveys in their countries, the other data are estimates and expert opinions. The percentages in the following diagrams relate to the proportion of answers which are found in the category "predominant". The difference to 100% is made up by the percentage of answers which relate to "never" and "sometimes".



Type of WHP activities

As regards the type of workplace health promotion activities conducted, a difference was made between behaviour prevention activities, such as exercise, nutrition, relaxation, further education programmes and information campaigns on health promotion, on the one hand, and circumstantialoriented concepts which are geared to the healthy design of the working conditions and work organisation, on the other hand.

First of all, it is obvious from the answers from the 10 NCOs that health promotion activities – as the aforementioned national surveys in Finland, Germany and the Netherlands confirm – are apparently pursued more frequently in enterprises, companies and organisations in public administration. Merely health promotion programmes which focus on improving the working environment and the impact on the surrounding area are to be found more frequently in private sector enterprises, judging by the answers from the 10 NCOs.

Further education, information campaigns, communications training courses and exercise programmes play the most important role in public administration, on the one hand, and measures geared to improving the working conditions and working time, on the other hand. Nutrition, addiction and cancer prevention programmes appear to play a more subordinate role. Differences between behaviour and condition prevention concepts could not be found.

Reasons for the implementation of WHP activities



If the reasons and benefits which are expected from the implementation of workplace health promotion activities in public administration are examined, a reduction in the sickness rate is clearly the top priority. 90% of the NCOs who returned answers indicated that this aspect was the key factor in deciding on WHP activities. Increasing job satisfaction and personal well-being are also highly significant; in the private sector increasing job satisfaction is the key factor for organising programmes. Reducing industrial accidents plays no role at all in public administration when deciding on such activities.



# **Results of WHP activities**

**65** 

By contrast, if the question is raised as to what results were actually and verifiably achieved by WHP activities, lowering the sickness rate falls behind job satisfaction and the well-being of the employees. 67% of the NCOs answering the questions indicated that in their countries workplace health promotion activities were found, through appropriate evaluations, to have resulted in greater satisfaction with the working conditions and an increase in well-being at the workplace. This confirms once again that it appears to be very difficult to have a monocausal effect on the complex and multifactor reasons behind the sickness rate through workplace health promotion alone. The motivational and social effects of workplace health promotion on the organisation of the enterprise and its workforce are more substantiated. It is therefore more probable that aspects of work productivity can be positively influenced by WHP activities but not primarily the costs due to a reduction in the sickness rate. At least the latter aspect can be found less frequently and simply.



# Organisations conducting WHP activities

In reply to the question about what organisations mainly conduct health promotion activities, most answers of the NCOs related to the health insurance funds. In 50% of cases the health insurance fund is responsible for organising measures in public administration and in 40% of cases in private sector enterprises. Private business consultants, the trade unions or health services are regarded as more important in conducting WHP activities in private sector enterprises.

It can be concluded from the results available that overall the subject of workplace health promotion in public administration plays a more important role than in the private sector. The quality and scope of the activities cannot unfortunately be assessed in greater detail on the basis of our findings.

Informative results on this question are only available from the above-mentioned Germany survey. This survey reaches the conclusion that the institutions in public administration (in Germany) have a lamentably low quality level of workplace health promotion compared with enterprises in the private sector even though the activities there are more widespread. This means that systematic health management is only pursued in exceptional cases, the activities are only organised in isolated locations, are hardly networked and limited in time. Sustained activities are the exception.

# 6. Summarising evaluation

Our analysis has clearly showed that since the nineties a far-reaching rationalisation and modernisation process has been under way in public administration which in many respects mirrors private sector concepts for corporate restructuring, from outsourcing concepts and job cuts down to the accelerated reorganisation of workflows and organisational structures. However, it appears as if the level of the job requirements involved and impacts on health do not – or at least not in general – exceed a critical limit. In particular, there are no indications, either on the basis of the evaluations of the 3rd European Survey on Working Conditions or in the opinion of most of the 16 country reports available, that the employees in public administration have suffered a well-above-average degree of deterioration in their working conditions or their health condition. Rationalisation and modernisation of the public administration therefore does not imply per se negative impacts on health which could no longer be countered by the existing system of occupational safety and health and the workplace health promotion activities.

On the other hand, individual results of our analyses also show that special developments and specific conditions in public administration lead to key stresses and risk groups to which special attention should be devoted in occupational safety and health and workplace health promotion.

For example, it can be shown first of all that public administrations in Europe have hardly made any use of the practice of the "rejuvenation of the workforces" over the last decade as was the case in industry or in the private services sector. Whether the much higher proportion of older employees in 2000 than 10 years previously is attributable more to a certain passiveness in personnel policy is based on special protection regulations of the employees in public administration – as can be seen almost everywhere in Europe there is better social security of the public administration employees than in the private sector – or whether this is due to a conscious and strategic policy of social responsibility towards older employees and therefore, as a general trend, towards staff with health disorders, has to remain unanswered at this point.

Nonetheless, it must be noted in this connection that public administration has a certain "age load" more than any other sector of the economy. This aspect alone produces very far-reaching organisation requirements in the personnel policy of the public employers for the future. Or to put it another way and more clearly: If the aim is to avoid passive "toleration" or increasing incapacity to work owing to illness in public administration and instead rely on the systematic use of concepts to integrate older and less able employees, workplace health promotion concepts and concepts of preventive occupational safety and health strategies are required and demanded.

The excessively high sickness rate in public administration can also be explained by the higher age structure of the employees in this sector.

Exposure/	Differences			Most at ris	k in PubAd					
health outcome	between public administration and private sector	Occup	pations*	Gen	der	Aç	je	Trei	nd	Need for action
		ESWC	NCO	ESWC	NCO	ESWC	NCO	ESWC	NCO	
Repetitive movements	PubAd lower	7	4	-	-	<25	<25	•	1	+
Painful positions	PubAd lower	9	9	Female	Female	_	_	_	<b>▲</b>	+
Heavy loads	PubAd lower	7	9	Male	Male	<25	-	¥		_
Low temperature	PubAd lower	6	6	Male	Male	25-39	<50	-	-	_
Noise	PubAd lower	8	10	Male	Male	<25	<50	\	_	_
High temperature	PubAd lower	6	8	Male	-	-	-	-	-	_
Workpace by social demand	PubAd lower	6	4	Female	Female	-	<50	\	<b>↑</b>	+
High speed	PubAd lower	1,3	1	Female	-	<25	<50		•	+
Monotonous tasks	PubAd lower	9	9,4	Male	Female	-	<25	+	-	+
Bullying and victimisation	PubAd higher	5	4	-	-	25-39	-	<b>A</b>	ł	+
Stress	PubAd higher	5	1,2,5	Female	-	40-54	<50	_	•	+
Backache	PubAd lower	6	6	Female	-	>55	>50		•	+
Pains in shoulders /neck	PubAd lower	9	9	Female	Female	40-54	>40	Not available	1	+
Work dissatisfaction	PubAd lower	8	8	-	-	-	<50	1	-	+
Sickness absence	PubAd higher	1,8	4	Female	Female	>40	>50	Not available	ł	+

\* 1 – Legislators, senior officials and managers
3 – Technicians and associate professionals
5 – Service workers, shop and market sales workers
7 – Craft and related trades workers
9 – Elementary occupations

2 – Professionals 4 – Clerks

- 6 Skilled agricultural and fishery workers
  8 Plant and machine operators and assemblers

10 – Armed forces

69

- In public administration there are stresses and health risks which require special attention. These include in particular the increase in stresses mentioned by several countries as well as bullying and victimisation. Both factors, which are detrimental to health and which have not been fully researched in terms of their effects, are the only ones which lie above the average of the other sectors of the economy (cf. Table page 69).
- Owing to the multifactor and social significance of these stresses at the workplace, workplace health promotion concepts are not only in particular demand but are also equally well suited to provide support to improve the situation (cf. also the Belgian example in our brochure "Models of Good Practice").

However, a number of other psycho-social stresses also play a role which have increased in significance for the employees in public administration in recent years and will probably continue to increase. These include the pace of work, dictated by social demand, just as much as the related pressure on time and performance (high-speed working) owing to the service nature of public administration.

Furthermore, and not least of all, certain physical strains have come to the fore owing to the specific working conditions in public administration. These include not so much heavy physical work but rather certain repetitive movements and rigid body postures at the computer. The dissemination of computer work has increased from 51% to 64% in public administration over the last 5 years whereas it has only risen in other branches by 3%, from 38% to 41%. This entails particular risks, for example RSIs, which represent a special challenge in workplace health promotion and occupational safety and health.

- Finally, certain employees and professional groups in public administration are exposed more frequently and for longer periods to the work stresses and health disorders mentioned above. These include, in addition to the aforementioned group of older employees, the particularly young employees (under 25) and women who are at particular risk in many respects although the corresponding stresses, when viewed overall, are below average for the public administration sector. The most frequently recorded occupation at risk in the public administration sector was "elementary occupations", which was identified by the NCOs and the ESWC data together 7 times. Elementary occupations was the most frequently reported category in the following four exposure and health outcome indicators:
  - strenuous working postures
  - carrying/moving heavy loads
  - monotonous tasks
  - muscular pains in shoulders and neck

Ranked 2<sup>nd</sup> to 4<sup>th</sup> were "skilled agricultural and fishery workers", "plant and machine operators" and "clerks".

According to the results available, workplace health promotion programmes would be particularly successful or promise specially high benefits for these groups of occupations and employees.

A total of 34 models of good practice from altogether 19 countries are presented in our collection of good WHP practice in public administration. They show how the work demands described here and the related health consequences can be successfully managed. We hope that they provide everyone interested and those responsible with ideas to copy themselves. For it is only through widely disseminated and high-quality workplace health promotion and preventive occupational safety and health that the old and new risks in the world of work (not only) in public administration can be effectively countered.

# 7. Annex: Summaries of the national country reports

# Austria

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

There have been several changes and reforms in this field during the last few years.

The new occupational health and safety act amendment came into force on 1.1.1995 and was the adaptation of the EU directive on workplace health and safety for Austria. Prevention was the central idea in this adaptation: the main focus is on designing the workplace, work process and materials in a way which minimises any risk.

Statutory occupational health and safety has received new impulses and quality through this development. The considerable reduction of occupational accidents – also in the public sector – shows how successful intensive work on the theme has been. As with some other developments, the public sector has lagged behind in this field, too. Most effort has concentrated on providing comprehensive support for small and medium sized businesses. However, in principle, the amendment has focused more attention on workplace health promotion, and this had a corresponding effect on occupational physicians and safety personnel.

Development has been affected by the new government constellation in Austria. The Ministry of Economy is now in charge of the agenda for occupational health and safety. New discussions are now in progress regarding the amount of time to be spent on application and support.

As far as the public sector is concerned, this will probably mean that development, which is already lagging behind, will be delayed even further. The topic is, however, still relevant in the public sector. This is shown by the relatively high incidence of accidents during transit.

# The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

The concept of workplace health promotion is now well established in many sectors in Austria. As a result of experiences in large industrial companies, there has been a successful transfer to small and medium-sized enterprises.

The public sector is lagging behind in this development. For a long time measures implemented in the field of health went no further than providing a healthy midday meal.

Activities in the public sector have only recently become visible. It is satisfying to see that the few projects which are emerging in this field are both well structured and are based on a sound concept.

A new development is that the workplace health promotion projects in the public sector are overlapping and networked, both at community and provincial level. Positive examples of this are the two
projects 'Health Promotion in Local Administration' and 'Health Promotion in the Financial Administration of the Province'. This allows both a good widespread effect on the one hand and puts an emphasis on health promotion on the other. Another strength is that these model projects attempt to convey health promotion know-how directly. This is done by the widespread training of health circle moderators, for example.

How far workplace health promotion can become established in the public administration sector will depend to a large extent on the successful implementation and evaluation of these projects.

### **Consequences and need for action**

In summary, it can be said that many developments in the field of occupational health and safety and workplace health promotion are being transferred, although with a time lag.

An additional hurdle is that public administration in Austria has been the target of much criticism from the media and on a political level. The main topics in the public eye are the reduction of personnel and the speeding up of work processes. This is the background of public opinion for the health promotion activities in the public administration sector.

On the other hand there are also some very satisfactory perspectives:

- The few large projects in the field of health promotion in the public sector make use of the principles of networking and building up of internal know-how.
- The interest of the provinces and communities in health management is steadily increasing. Public sector employees at this level often serve as opinion leaders. This development will also take place at federal level, yet with a time lag.
- The topics of work design and work structure will also be important for the public sector in Austria. One important factor for success will be the extent to which positive connections exist between the concepts of new public management and workplace health promotion.

# Denmark

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

One of the strengths in the current practice of statutory OHS in the public administration sector is that it is well organised with safety committees and/or joint safety committees and co-operation committees in every institution and agency.

There is a long tradition of co-operation in dealing with working environmental issues in the public administration sector. This is the case both at state, county, municipal and institutional level as well as at a central level.

One strength is the campaign being run by the National Working Environment Authority targeting the administration sector.

The widespread use of Working Assessment and the ongoing improvement of the methods in use is clearly also a positive factor.

When it comes to weaknesses, cuts in the national OHS system are generally the most worrying as well as those in the public administration sector.

A more sector-specific weakness is that sometimes not enough attention is devoted to working environmental problems in the public administration sector. The severe and conspicuous problems in other parts of the public sector (e.g. elderly care in the municipalities) tend to attract all the attention.

The common attitude that working environmental problems do not exist for employees with a sedentary, clean job is still widespread even among employers and employees within the public service sector.

The working environmental problems that are now starting to emerge in the administration sector due to repetitive computer work – most pronounced in the call centres – clearly indicate the need for a change in attitude.

Another strain is the susceptibility of the public sector to the political situation. The dramatic cuts in budgets, which every part of the public administration sector at state level is facing these days, are bound to influence the working environment in a negative way: uncertainty caused by the cut itself, uncertainty caused by the dismissals, higher pressure of work for the remaining employees, dissemination of a defeatist attitude and less time and money for preventive work.

### The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

The fact that there is a great deal of interest in WHP by all organisations and authorities involved is the most important strength. Interest in the issue is growing.

It can be expected that the envisaged shortage of employees in the years to come will increase this interest further.

The development of the co-operation and safety committee structure in the state, the counties and in the municipalities over the last few years has made a very good foundation for WHP at an institutional level.

Growing interest and focus on the necessity of paying attention to human resource management is important in the broader sense of WHP in the public administration sector.

Valuable experiences have been gained from a variety of local projects addressing specific WHP issues.

Up to now very little effort has been made to gather experiences and results obtained in local WHP projects. This can be seen as a weakness.

The establishment of a national centre of WHP will be very helpful in gathering and spreading these experiences.

Overall efforts made in the field of WHP will be weakened if there is too much focus on individual factors (smoking, lifestyle etc.), thereby diverting attention away from the influence of the working environment.

A lack of understanding and appreciation of the value of WHP by political decision makers is probably the most severe weakness in the current practise (as is actually seen in the case of the Danish state).

## **Consequences and need for action**

It is very important to deal with WHP and OHS as connected fields. This means avoiding giving priority to WHP as a "single factor", which can result in necessary OHS efforts being neglected.

Considering the stated working environmental problems in the sector, it is particularly important to consolidate efforts to improve psychosocial working environment conditions and to develop work organisation.

It is important to evaluate and demonstrate results obtained at all levels in order to optimise workplace health management – i.e. both in the short and long term.

It is also important to gather and exchange models of good practice amongst the different parts of the public administration sector and on the labour market as such.

It is important to continue and improve the co-operation between employers and employees on WHP and OHS in all parts and at all levels of the public administration sector.

The cutbacks in the occupational health and safety authorities and institutions make it even more important to ensure that sufficient attention is given to workplace health management in the public administration sector in the years to come.

# Finland

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety as well as workplace health promotion among public administrations

In Finland the number of employees in the public administration sector was 120 000 in 1995 and 118 702 in 2000. The proportion of workers in the public administration sector has decreased from 6.2% to 5.3%. Ageing of the Finnish workforce is affecting all sectors including public administration sector; 45% of the workforce was over 45 years old in 2000.

Many structural changes have taken place in the public administration sector since 1995, such as the streamlining of regional level administration, flattening of organisational structures and changes in work profiles. Several statutory tasks that were previously carried out at a regional level have been transferred to local authorities. Swift changes in working life and environment, such as globalisation, IT technology and work in many kinds of networks have permanently changed the way work is organised – this trend can be perceived also in the public administration sector and affects both WHP and OHS.

Occupational health and safety has a long tradition and history in Finnish workplaces and is being increasingly respected by all parties. In Finland current legislation strongly supports the practice of WHP and OHS. Two statutory instruments affecting WHP and OHS are The Act on Occupational Health Care No 1348, which has been approved by Parliament (became effective 1.1.2002), and the Act on Work Safety, which is under discussion and is planned to be implemented at the beginning of 2003.

The methods in OHS still partly follow traditional risk-based thinking and focus on individuals. Differences between the private sector and the public administration sector are mainly connected to the different type of work e.g. public administration sector does not include construction work and therefore accidents are not as common as in the private sector. New methods and means are gradually being introduced to improve collaboration at the workplace, and with other service providers and authorities, such as safety administration. Consultative work, proactive methods, process thinking and quality are some of the features of the new practice in the field of OHS. Measurement development regarding OHS (as well as WHP) is needed.

WHP is quite versatile and popular in the Finnish public administration sector, since the economical benefits and cost-effectiveness of WHP are held in high regard. One strength of the expansion of WHP in Finland has been the attempt to use versatile follow-up measurements and several beforeafter reports, which have increased interest in WHP and OHS, although high quality scientific studies are scarce.

More provision has been made for ageing workers during the last ten years due to the positive attitude of municipalities towards increasing WHP. On the other hand, criticism of WHP has lately increased in the government sector, which can be considered a weakness. Resources are needed to promote the implementation of measures designed to promote work performance and a positive attitude to WHP must be maintained with repeated action, otherwise WHP cannot be integrated as a normal part of everyday practices. So far too much responsibility for WHP and OHS has been assigned to occupational health care. In addition more time has been given to curative care rather than preventive work. There is also a need to narrow the gap between WHP and rehabilitation, i.e. vocational as well as medical rehabilitation should be identified early enough. Nevertheless, the WHP model has improved collaboration in the field of occupational health care, between employer and employees at workplaces and with regard to OHS and workplaces.

## **Consequences and need for action**

In general, it is difficult to draw conclusions because of the heterogeneous occupations included in the public administration sector. It seems that WHP and OHS have established their position as part of the development of well-being at work. A comparison of jobs involving totally different work does not seem very relevant.

Musculoskeletal exposure is a common office work problem, while four out of five employees use information technology in administrative occupations. There are two major posture and movement exposures in the public administration sector. Firstly neck and upper extremity exposure caused by static posture, and secondly hand exposure caused by "light" repetitive work. The risk of difficult neck positions is highest compared to any other physical exposure type and is increasing in "information" orientated society. Employees are increasingly using computers in the public administration sector. The incidence of neck exposure is about two times higher amongst women compared to men, as women still deal with office "paper" work more than men. Instead, more physical work is mostly carried out by men, for example in the armed forces and in the security services.

The risk of work involving repetitive hand exertion has increased as well, because of the use of computers in public administration sector. Hand and wrist symptoms are related to the time spent using a computer or working with a mouse or keyboard. According to a Finnish study (Ketola et. al, 2000), the "mouse" is used for about 65% of the working time in computer-aided drawing programs, while the figure for word processing is about 3%. Prevention programs for muskuloskeletal disorders are still under development and office as well as information ergonomics is needed. This might be one challenge for the occupational health care field – for example more emphasis should be placed on work intervals, exercise, and ergonomics in the future.

Exposure to physical factors (noise, as well as temperature conditions: cold, draught, and heat) seem to be quite common types of exposure in the public administration sector. This might be partly explained by the inclusion of armed forces and technician-related occupations in the public administration sector, as exposures to physical factors are central to these occupations. Exposure to chemical and biological factors is quite well controlled nowadays. Although such exposure does exist amongst armed forces and security service workers, it is not a common source of exposure in the public administration sector. On the other hand, problems relating to poor indoor air quality, moisture problems in public buildings and offices, moulds, defects in cleaning and maintenance, as well as dust needs decreasing will also need to be addressed in the future. Moreover more effort might be required to measure chemical exposures in general.

Finally, there is a big need for preventive measures with regard to psychosocial working conditions in the public administration sector. Lower mental well-being at work is a common and increasing problem (as in most other sectors as well). Examples of exposure are tight deadlines, powerlessness to control workloads and working hours, insufficient flow of information at the workplace and insufficient feedback from superiors. Information techonology and the email postal system, for example, have improved work in many ways, but, on the other hand, they have also dramatically increased the amount of work in the public administration sector. Response to an email is expected almost in real time, which increases the mental overload of work. Moreover, screening the post takes up a lot of time that could be allocated to more relevant work. This negative trend can be counteracted by introducing preventive measures, although measures for promoting well-being at work should not themselves increase the workload and stress. There is a risk of "new exposure" if resources are not properly directed towards intervention and if they are not coordinated properly.

It seems that in the public administration sector training provided by the employer is much more common than in the private business sector. The incidence of accidents at work also seems to be much lower than in the private business sector. The differences between the public administration and the private sector are considered to depend on the small proportion of employees in especially high-risk occupations, such as jobs in construction and industry. The risk of occupational diseases in the public admistration sector are approximately as high as in the private business sector, although the number of strain injuries has increased in both sectors, despite the fact that physical work load has decreased during the last few decades. Information from the public administration sector does not highlight any exposures that have not become evident in private sector data. For example, the risk of asbestos-related diseases is assumed to be decreasing, as the use of this exposure is restricted by legislation and safety regulations from the 1970's.

As in all industrialised countries, the population is ageing and therefore work-related disorders are increasing. In order to prevent early retirement, work content and work conditions should be improved so that the impact of the aging trend is taken into account and tackled early enough. Although about 85% of employees in the public administration sector seem to be satisfied with they jobs, it is a fact that insecurity has increased – the public administration sector used to be considered

a predictable and stable workplace. In Finland absence due to sickness in the public administration sector is about 9 days a year per person (according to the data from 2000). Sick leave is related to economic cycles. This trend has been increasing slightly in the public administration sector, although absenteeism is not a major problem at the moment. Nevertheless, if no action is taken, the ageing workforce, early retirement and changes in the population structure will lead to loss of effectivity and productivity which may eventually represent a national economic problem.

# Germany

### General conditions of health at work in public administrations

Out of roughly 36 million employees in Germany, 13,4% work in the public sector as a whole and 8,2% of the German workforce in public administrations. Compared with the European average, the latter figure is slightly above average.

Since the beginning of the nineties, the public administration sector in Germany has been under great pressure to rationalise and modernise. Financial shortages in the public sector budget on the one hand, and loud criticism about bureaucracy and being out of touch with the public have created disquiet and have led to calls for changes in processes in the sector. A comprehensive rationalisation and modernisation process is underway in the public sector under the heading "New Public Management Systems".

Health conditions in the public administration sector are different. On the one hand, health hazards and complaints related to physiological, physical or psychosocial working conditions are – with the exception of a few psychosocial working strains – lower than in private sector companies. Therefore, it seems that the modernisation process carried out in public administrations has not been responsible for all increases in health risks and health-related problems, which was previously observed in other sectors. On the other hand, there are much higher rates of sick leave in the public administration sector. Overall absence levels due to sickness have been consistently high (nearly double) in the public administration sector for years while the trend has been downwards in other business sectors. The following aspects, which apply particularly to the public administration sector, must be taken into consideration when seeking an explanation:

- Much higher proportion of older employees
- Much higher proportion of handicapped or disabled employees

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

The occupational health and safety system is dominated by the dualism of the state and statutory accident insurance funds (Berufsgenossenschaften – BGs). There is a separate BG for the public administration sector.

Since 1996 the BGs have also had the mandate to co-operate in the prevention of work-related health hazards with the statutory health insurance system, i.e. the health insurance funds. In turn, these funds have the statutory authority to participate in the prevention of work-related health hazards and to co-operate with the accident insurance bodies.

Owing to the transposition of European directives into German law, occupational health and safety in public administrations has gained in significance. For the first time in Germany a uniform legal basis has been created for all enterprises and administrations. Moreover, the preventive task of the accident insurance system above and beyond industrial accidents and occupational illnesses has been extended to the prevention of all work-related health hazards. The statutory labour inspection, accident insurance bodies and health insurance funds have been obliged to work together closely and to promote the exchange of experience. These are important steps towards eliminating the fragmentation, shortcomings and fragmentary limitation in German occupational safety and health legislation.

Statutory labour inspection, like Berufsgenossenschaften, have, however, a common core of problems relating to their sovereign functions and statutory legitimisation. Their commitment and advice is perceived less as further consultancy but rather as a formal requirement. Another weakness is the (still) minimum co-operation of all those concerned. There is (still) absolutely no pooling of resources to make occupational health and safety effective, to avoid overlapping, to detect shortcomings more quickly and, in particular, to improve the acceptance of these measures.

## The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

In Germany, the main players in workplace health promotion, as defined beyond traditional, statutory regulated occupational health and safety, are the statutory health insurance funds, which were given their own statutory mandate in 1989 in the field of prevention and health promotion, which also covered enterprises and workplaces. From that time on, the health insurance funds rapidly extended their commitment in the field of health promotion and developed workplace health promotion concepts, which, in their most advanced forms, can be understood as a contribution towards the implementation of the WHO health policy.

Results of representative studies show that the majority of health promotion measures take place in public administration companies and authorities. The industrial sector takes second place. In the craft and trade sectors WHP measures are rarely carried out. The WHP measures however are of a regret-tably low quality in public administrations. The programmes are usually single efforts, are not sustainable and not integrated into the organisational operations and structures and relate mainly to the lifestyle prevention sector; they are primarily programmes on exercise and relaxation and addiction prevention.

Tools for needs analysis and work design prevention integrated into organisational operations have, on the other hand, still not attracted widespread attention. They have only become accepted to any appreciable extent in few bigger administrations.

#### **Consequences and need for action**

- Development of approaches to occupational health and safety and workplace health promotion that are part of and integrated into new public management initiatives.
- Tailor-made support programmes, especially suitable for integration of older and handicapped or disabled employees.
- Changes in vocational and further training for players in occupational health and safety.

# Greece

The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

The strengths of the current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in the public administration sector are:

- The extension of OHS legislation in the public sector
- Modernisation activities which are being implemented in the wider public sector and have been officially acknowledged by the Greek government as a priority include OHS activities such as improving the condition of buildings, upgrading personnel and introducing new technology.
- The existence of models of good practice of OHS and WHP in public administration, which are gradually expanding their activities and are sharing their knowledge and expertise in the wider public sector, such as, for instance, the ETHEL Bus Company, the Hellenic Post, the Greek telephone company (OTE), the Greek electricity company (DEY) and a number of ministries.
- More training, which is offered in OHS issues by a number of governmental and non-governmental institutions, such as the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs and the Hellenic Institution for Health and Safety at Work (EL.IN.Y.A.E).

The weaknesses in the current practice of statutory occupational safety and health are as follows:

- There is no methodology to monitor the implementation of OHS legislation specifically in the public sector
- Occupational diseases and occupational accidents are not recognised or statistically recorded
- There is insufficient information on the conditions of the working environment in the public administration sector
- Employees of the public administration sector have inadequate knowledge concerning OHS matters. This phenomenon is more prominent in rural areas.

## The current practice of workplace health promotion in the public administrations

Workplace Health Promotion is less understood and developed in the public administration sector in Greece, despite attempts made in recent years by the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs and in particular the Centre for Occupational Health and Safety, which is the National Contact Office for WHP in Greece. A number of ministries and public sector companies conduct WHP activities, which have been positively received by employees. There is a need though for further development as the number of WHP activities in the public sector are limited. The main weakness of the current practice is the limited information public administration employees receive about WHP and the limited number of trained personnel that can design and implement WHP activities in the public sector.

## **Consequences and need for action**

Although there are weaknesses in the practice of both WHP and OHS in the public administration sector, many positive trends are starting to emerge, as mentioned above. The increasing interest of the Ministry of Labour and Social Affaires concerning the implementation of WHP and OHS activities in the pubic administration and also the implementation of modernisation activities in the public sector are expected to bring important results and improve overall the level of OHS of employees in the public administration sector.

# Hungary

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

# Strengths:

In Hungary, according to the Labour Protection Act and the sectorial decrees, the employer is obliged to provide occupational health care service for all workers employed in organised work and labour protection; representatives can also be elected if there are at least 10 physical workers or 20 whitecollar workers respectively. Prior to taking up work, employees have to participate in labour protection training held and documented by the local labour protection head. A basic occupational health care service (consisting of one physician and one nurse) may care for 1000-2000 employees, depending on the health risks posed by the work. The work of the occupational health care service consists of the occupational health examination, serving as a basis for risk assessment of the fitness-for-work medical examination and rehabilitation and health promotion/preservation activity. All employees have to be assigned to occupational health categories, depending on the health risks they are exposed to in their job (Category A represents the highest risk, Categories B and C diminishing levels of risk and Category D the lowest risk). The white-collar and manual workers in the public administration sector belong to occupational health categories D and C, respectively. The fitness-for-work medical examination or job and the examination of suitability from the point of view of the personal hygiene of the employees are regulated by 33/1998 (VI. 24), the Decree of MW amended by 27/2000 (IX. 30.) and the Decree of MH, covering all workers employed for organised work. The fitness-forwork medical examination may be pre-employment, periodic, extraordinary or a final examination. In Hungary workers cannot be employed without undergoing a pre-employment fitness-for-work examination; the fitness-for-work examination must be repeated every 6 months - 2 years. Checks are carried out regarding the timing of the examinations. The occupational health physician is most familiar with which stresses and strains the employees are subjected to. The occupational health care service knows and keeps contact with the head of the institution or enterprise served. The occupational health care service participates in labour protection activities. In Hungary the occupational health coverage rate is about 87%. At present the National Public Health Programme in Hungary is ongoing within the framework of NPHMOS, and the work of the occupational health care services is closely related to this programme.

## Weaknesses:

Local municipalities with less than 20 employees do spend any money on labour protection or occupational health; their first priority is profitability, and most often they do not elect any labour protection representatives either.

- The fitness-for-work examinations are not performed everywhere.
- The authority inspection, which could threaten penalties if there is a lack of occupational health care, is insufficient.
- Some basic occupational health care services are lacking a quality assurance system and are therefore not comparable.
- Labour protection focuses on classic occupational illnesses, which do not occur in the public administration sector. Mental stress and the MSD group of illnesses are neglected as occupational diseases.
- There is no independent accident insurance for occupational diseases and accidents.
- No occupational health record is kept on the public administration sector at NPHMOS.

#### The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

#### Strengths:

In Hungary, according to the Labour Protection Act and the sectorial decrees, the employer is obliged to provide occupational health care service for all workers employed in organised work. During the fitness-for-work medical examination the physician from the basic occupational health care service records the employee's lifestyle habits (smoking, drinking, sports and nutrition). The recorded data is regularly analysed. The occupational health care service not only assesses and records the lifestyle habits, but gives information and advises on activity aimed at changing harmful habits. The basic occupational health care service also organises targeted screening examinations and vaccinations. The protection of non-smokers, and the use and marketing of tobacco products is regulated by law. There is no legal regulation of drug use. The occupational health care participated in 20282 presentations on health preservation and 8541 programmes on health preservation in 2001.

#### Weaknesses:

- There is no legal regulation regarding health preservation in Hungary.
- Assessments serving health promotion, prepared according to harmonised guidelines, are scarce in occupational health.
- Few training, information materials (written and/or electronic) are available for use in the public administration sector.
- There is no motivation to change harmful habits.
- Compared to the private sector, income levels are much lower in the public administration sector and therefore employees can spend less on health promotion.

#### **Consequences and need for action**

- Health promotion and health preservation needs legal regulation.
- The present 87% occupational health coverage in Hungary should be extended.
- Laws restricting drug use should tightened and should be consistently observed.
- Creation of techniques for motivating people to change harmful lifestyle habits.
- All leaders should be encouraged to support health promotion.
- All civil organisations should be encouraged to support health promotion.
- The media should be encouraged to support health promotion.

- The establishment of an information and counselling communication system for occupational health is needed.
- The establishment of an independent accident insurance system, covering occupational diseases and accidents is needed.

# Iceland

# The current practice of statutory health and safety in public administrations

The legally prescribed healthcare issues in public administration sector in Iceland are quite satisfactory. Security managers that are supposed to be co-operating with the OHS should be found in all companies with 10 or more employees, according to the law. In smaller enterprises a shop steward, elected according to trade union rules, should be in charge. Employers should see to it that the security manager receives training in the form of courses held by the OHS about workplace health and safety.

Even though the system is officially established in public administrative sectors in this country, it is clear that the S.M. system functions better in the larger companies. It also functions best in places where the work environment is considered the most difficult from a safety point of view. One may question the merits of not electing security managers in enterprises with less than 10 employees. In fact it would be better to elect S.M.'s in these companies as well, at least where there are five or more employees.

It is clearly a weakness in Icelandic law that it does not take the mental and social sides of work safety factors into consideration. It has proven difficult to implement fines due to their neglect on the basis of the law.

### The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

Health promotion at the workplace is not a legal requirement in this country. There is, however, greater emphasis on health promotion in the work place, partly due to EU/89/301 and partly due to the increased awareness of the work place as a congenial place for health promoting activities. As there is not much information available concerning work-related illnesses and stress factors affecting the workers, the management in the establishments have not made a connection between the employee's well-being and better results for the company.

The selection and documentation of models for good practice of WHP in public administration sector showed that problems with the application of WHP in the public administrative sector mostly occur because the task of working on and taking responsibility for the implications of projects within WHP that have been started is rarely designated to one person. Employees do this work alongside their main job and are reluctant to devote a lot of time to it due to their workload. In the survey it became clear that if the executive management in the company does not see to it that WHP is incorporated into the rest of the management and policy of the company, then the effort will never amount to more than a few short-term projects.

In Iceland a lot of emphasis has been placed on quality management in recent years, as well as registered security systems, and many managers have adopted those management policies. The problem with these systems is that most of the time WHP is not included in them, and tends therefore to be forgotten.

### **Consequences and need for action**

It is clear that larger institutions with access to larger and more specialised workforces are able to use different methods to smaller ones. This must also apply to work that is aimed at health promotion in the workplace. It is therefore very important to develop ways for smaller institutions to promote health in the workplace. An important way is to draw attention to WHP, for example as it appears in the Lisbon and The Luxembourg Declarations.

When the Administration of Occupational Safety and Health (AOSH) became the National Contact Office in Iceland a co-operation group was formed to work with the project, thus linking the other parties of interest to Workplace Health Promotion in Iceland. In the co-operation group there are representatives from the Administration of Occupational Safety and Health, The Directorate of Health and the Ministry of Health. The group has discussed the status of WHP in Iceland and mostly gathered information regarding these matters. The Lisbon and Luxembourg Declarations have been translated and distributed to the Board of AOSH, the Ministries, the employers association, labour unions, health centres and to those companies that are known to be interested in these fields.

The Lisbon statement and the Luxembourg-declaration about Workplace Health Promotion undoubtedly give many lcelanders a new perspective, although no research has been done to see how people interpret the concept. The relationship between management, work organisation and health are important issues that are made visible, to mention only a few examples. An important task awaiting the National Contact Office is to spread a new way of thinking and new methods and to make sure they are established. As there are plans to formally establish OHS services for employees in the near future, new channels will be opening to propagate the ideas of Workplace Health Promotion and strengthen the program.

# Ireland

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

Current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in the Public Administration sector is hard to evaluate in relation to other sectors for the following reasons:

- There is a general lack of information about the performance of the occupational health and safety system in Ireland
- There is a lack of data specifically with regard to the Public Administration sector

The data that is available would, however, suggest the following:

- Risks due to posture and movement are lower than in the economy as a whole
- Risks due to physical exposures are lower than in the economy as a whole
- Risks due to psychosocial exposures are lower than in the economy as a whole
- Accident rates are lower than in the economy as a whole
- There are too few fatal accidents to compare with the economy as a whole

With regard to the practice of OHS, there is little data available to allow for a definitive assessment of how it functions. Informed opinion would, however, suggest that the following statements are true:

- The public administration sector is not viewed as a high-risk sector by the labour inspectorate
- Trade union membership is higher than in the economy as a whole. This is likely to lead to stronger OHS practice in the sector.
- Some trade union data suggest that OHS practice is stronger than in the private sector

Given this lack of information, it is possible to point to some of the more obvious weaknesses with regard to OHS practice. In the public administration sector it should be noted however, that these weaknesses are not necessarily confined to the sector, as they can be found with reference to many other sectors of the economy as well.

- There is a lack of data available to indicate the level of risk in the sector
- There is a lack of centralised data on the performance of OHS systems in the sector
- Psychosocial risk factors are not dealt with in a preventive manner to any great extent (however, there are some initiatives about to begin which may correct this situation)
- The legislative background does not encourage the widespread take-up of professional OHS services (there is no obligation for organisations to use OHS services)

Despite this relatively negative background, there are probably a number of strengths in the sector that promote better OHS practice. These include:

- High trade union membership
- Better than average culture towards OHS
- Improved availability of methods and tools for preventive OHS
- Increased numbers of trained OHS personnel

# The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

Workplace health promotion in Ireland has only recently become a more important priority for the parties involved. In particular, the past 12-18 months has seen an increased commitment to providing trained staff with responsibility for WHP by the ten local health authorities. Moreover, there is some (anecdotal) evidence that employers in all sectors are beginning to see WHP as a means of improving staff retention in an economy which has been booming and has effectively reached full employment levels. However, these strengths tend to apply to the economy as a whole, rather than to the public administration sector specifically.

The major strengths of WHP in the economy as a whole at present are:

Increased commitment to providing WHP staff, especially through the national Cardiovascular Strategy

- Increasing awareness of the possibilities provided by WHP
- Increasing pressure for organisations to retain staff, often recognising that workplace health and well-being is an important element in any successful strategy
- Improving infrastructure for WHP in terms of tools and methods and training
- Initial development of networks for WHP

There are, however, a number of obvious weaknesses in relation to WHP development in the Public Administration sector. This assessment is based on the limited information available and on expert opinion. These weaknesses include:

- There is no centralised data collection on the practice of WHP in the sector, nor in the economy as a whole
- There is no identifiable WHP policy for the sector. There is, however, some evidence that individual local authorities may have some policy in this regard.
- Much of the practice which has been identified as part of this investigation would indicate that it is exclusively focused on lifestyle factors
- The Public Administration sector is not seen as a coherent sector. It is made up of a number of disparate organisations, responsibility for which is dispersed at national level. This makes it unlikely that policy or practice for the sector will be developed for the sector as a whole.

Taken together, these strengths and weaknesses do not suggest that there will be a revolution of practice of WHP in the sector in the coming years. It is, however, likely that there will be an increase in practice, as general economic and labour market factors act as a stimulus to improve the health and well-being of the workforce. In addition, the improved availability of WHP services is bound to have some impact in the coming years.

### Consequences and need for action

There are a number of factors which are combining to improve the prospects for integrated workplace health management systems in the economy as a whole in Ireland in the coming years. These include:

- Ageing workforces, especially in the public sector
- Tight labour markets, with serious labour shortages, often in the public sector
- Initiatives to improve integrated workplace health services. For example:
  - development of a pilot integrated workplace health service with local health authorities
  - increased co-operation between health promotion and health and safety policy makers
  - recent launch of a stress-prevention package by health and safety authorities
  - improved recognition of workplace health issues (as opposed to safety issues) by major stakeholders
  - individual projects which are adopting a new and integrated approach to workplace health issues

None of these developments are specific to the Public Administration sector, however. Within this sector it has been hard to identify specific initiatives which are likely to have a major influence on the prospects for WHP development. Unlike many EU countries, Ireland does not have an agenda to reduce the numbers employed in public services, and this factor does not offer opportunities to pro-

mote WHP. In addition, though, there are efforts to improve public services; these initiatives are not seen in the light of WHP, as far as can be told.

However, the above-named factors all are capable of acting as a stimulus to improving the demand for and supply of integrated workplace health services in Ireland. It should be noted that these forces are essentially 'bottom-up' forces, and there are no current plans to make and roll out national plans for the development of integrated workplace health services, either in the public administration sector or elsewhere.

# Italy

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

The same laws that regulate the other sectors of the working world regulate the current practice of statutory occupational safety and health in the public administration.

Following the enforcement of Law 833/78 a number EU Directives on safety in the workplace have been implemented. That culminated in the promulgation of the Decree 626/94 (modified several times, last time 21/12/2001 DL 402/01) incorporating other decrees, including 391/89 (Framework Directive). The Legislative Decree is a collection of general regulations and indications for prevention in the workplace that is divided into levels:

A *first level* within the company, where the employer is obliged to guarantee the health and safety of his employees. He must do this by identifying and evaluating the risks and considering the preventive measures identified by the "Company Prevention and Protection Service". This is defined as "that group of people, systems and external or internal company means aimed at any activity of prevention and protection from occupational risks within the company". In the case of small enterprises the person in charge of this service can be the employer himself, who is also obliged to inform and train workers on the risks deriving from their jobs.

To oversee health, employers collaborate with the Occupational Physician, who can be a company employee, freelance or employed by a private or government body.

The participation of the employees, a basic criteria for workable prevention, is assured by an "*employees' representative for Prevention and Safety*" (RLS) within the company. This person is required to take an active part in the application of prevention regulations, both in terms of complete collaboration with other people involved in prevention within the company, and also to stimulate the workers themselves, as they should be the recipients of prevention regulations.

As second level the Decree indicates: the Local Health Services (A.S.L.). In particular it indicates the Workplace Prevention and Safety Services that are located in the Department of Prevention, responsible for checking and surveillance of the application of laws related to health and safety according to Legislative Decree 626/94. From this very brief description it appears clear that it is a system based on active participation of all the figures present in the workplace. When this happens the system works, but when one of the figures does not play his part, this makes the system collapse.

#### The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

It is quite impossible to point out what strengths and weaknesses exist in the current practice of WHP in the public administration sector for the simple reason very few initiatives of this kind have been carried out. What can be said is that since the publication of the National Health Plan 1998-2000 the concept of health promotion, and in particular workplace health promotion, has become much more familiar in Italy. In fact one of the initiatives that took place right after this by the Ministry of Health in collaboration with the Ministry of Labor (now Ministry of Welfare) was to call in a number of experts from all over the country and from all the stakeholders involved or that must be involved in improving the health of the workers. This group of experts started by analysing the current situation (monitoring system, available data, causes, obstacles, on-going activities, etc.) and finished pointing out a number of solutions. The document presented to WHP is given a very high profile. The Government assumed this document and presented it in a National Conference on Workplace Safety (Genova 3-4-5/12/99). Parallel to this ISPESL and the University of Perugia promoted a series of initiatives (organization of National Information days and National Conferences on WHP, speeches at several national conferences, production of informative material, etc.) in order to reinforce these and other initiatives at European level.

#### Consequences and need for action

The public administration sector is in a critical situation. The population aspects are mainly from this sector and the national government decided to introduce the concepts used in the private sector, productivity, quality, etc. On the one hand this can introduce several risks, but the experience of the last years tell us that the quality concept goes arm in arm with WHP. Given the aforementioned facts, this observation makes the situation positive yet critical at the same time. Critical due to evolution. The concepts of WHP have only been introduced over the past few years, and in order to facilitate the introduction of this concept (with OSH concept) several steps still have to be made:

- Harmonization of the regulations in force regarding health and safety in the workplace with those for the enacting of European directives;
- Enactment foreseen of the law decree concerning "Amendments to and integration of the Law Decree 494/96";
- Completion of the regulations for high-risk sectors;
- The reorganization of the central institutions and organisms, consistent with the multi-disciplinary organizational model of collective prevention in the workplace, in particular research development, information, and training activities and guaranteeing technical-scientific support to the prevention system.
- Education and training for health and safety in the workplace:
  - Development of a culture of prevention in the life environment and at the workplace by introducing information on health and safety during school activities;
  - Development of safety-protection arguments in professional schools;
  - Development of training activities for the professionals working in the field of security and health in workplaces;
  - Development of specific training for those workers who will occupy the role of "employees' representative for Prevention and Safety" (RLS);

- Development of courses on safety and health for all employees giving particular attention to those who carry out a higher risk activity.
- To back operative services and instruments with adequate human and technical resources;
- Step up controls, making it possible to involve at least 10% of the units p.a. in the fields of highest risk, guaranteeing the involvement of the RLS-RLST;
- Clear definition of the responsibilities of the various public services with regard to the inspection of workplaces and coordination of the activities of the various administrations so as to implement an integrated program of intervention responding to the specific needs of different territories and in following with national regulations;
- To implement new and more effective methodological supervisory models, so as to tie them in with the transformations in the working world, in the country's productive structure and in the new regulations, also with programmatic agreements that have preventive objectives. In particular, supervisory activities must be oriented towards the control of work processes and procedures, in order to give an important contribution to the definition of the levels of prevention possible in different working environments;
- Development of preventive activities by means of adequate measures of information, training and assistance for those interested in the application of the regulations on health and safety in the workplace, aiming at coordination and synergism among the designated administrations (Art. 24, L.D. 628/94 and subsequent amendments and integration) with a view towards the rationalization and systematization of the actions, also by implementing specific decentralized instruments such as the "prevention counter";
- To devise and carry out systems for the surveillance of work hazards and injuries, also through the integrated management of systems for the registration of risks of exposure and of occupational diseases as provided by law.

# Liechtenstein/Switzerland

### The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

Workplace health promotion is still hardly established in Switzerland. This applies both to public administration and the private sector. Accurate statements on the dissemination, type and scope of workplace health promotion in administration are, however, not possible owing to a lack of systematic data. The following picture of workplace health promotion in public administration is produced for Switzerland on the basis of expert opinions and allowing for information from national and canton institutions and administrations:

- Systematic health management is only pursued in isolated cases.
- Individual and, above all, very large administrations are very active. However, the activities are generally localised. They are scarcely networked and mostly limited in time. Sustained activities are the exception.
- Where prevention is implemented, it is in most cases behaviour-oriented, rarely circumstantialoriented, i.e. factors of the working environment, the work organisation and the work tasks are only seldom integrated into workplace health promotion concepts. The predominant strategy for WHP is the individual..

In spite of this rather sobering conclusion, there has also been increased interest in issues of workplace health promotion in public administrations in recent years. This trend is to be viewed positively; holistic concepts and the resultant systematic implementation of workplace health promotion measures are, however, still largely a rarity.

### **Consequences and need for action**

#### Systematic data

Systematic data to evaluate the status quo of workplace health promotion in public administration is only available to a limited extent. Such data is very important for an assessment of the type and extent of workplace health promotion in administrations. It is only in this way that strengths and weaknesses can become evident and suitable measures derived to improve the company health management. Systematic data should be available both on national and canton level as well as on the level of individual administrations.

#### **Comprehensive concepts**

If the existing measures of workplace health promotion in public administration are considered, the impression is gained that there is no consensus on the definition of the terms health and health management. This results in isolated intervention focal points, which are sometimes selected arbitrarily. Therefore, various measures, e.g. relaxation exercises, smoking and alcohol prevention, exercise motivation and programmes on the ergonomic design of workplaces can be found. Other conditionoriented measures are only met in exceptional cases.

A uniform health definition including physical, mental, psychosocial and organisational factors should be aimed for. Only in this way can comprehensive concepts of company health management be developed. Without questioning the responsibility of the individual for his health, a one-sided behaviour-oriented strategy of company health management should be avoided. A uniform understanding of company health management must also allow for circumstantially oriented measures.

To guarantee quality assurance, thus broaching the subject again of systematic data acquisition, emphasis must increasingly be placed on conducting an evaluation of the action taken. Ideally, an evaluation is not made in isolation but as part of pan-company information systems for the management or in connection with projects relating to job design and organisation development.

#### Networks

The federal structure of Switzerland and the related decentralised organisation of the public administrations represent a problem for workplace health promotion. Compared with large institutions, this produces obstacles for small administrations in implementing comprehensive health management concepts, be it due to a lack of resources or shortage of experts. This represents a parallel situation to that in the SME sector. This problem could be countered with more activities in networks, on the one hand, with the aim of sharing information and experience and, on the other hand, for the purpose of selectively exploiting synergetic effects in the development and implementation of workplace health promotion concepts.

# **Netherlands**

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

The percentage of employees working in the Public Administration Sector is 11% (61% men and 39% women). In general the social and economic framework of the public administration sector does not differ from the business sector. However, the government has a reward advantage of 3% compared to the business sector. In the sectors police and provinces the advantage is even higher. In the business sector full-timers earn more than part-timers. Child care and maternity leave arrangements seem to be a bit better in the Public Administration Sector. The labour market situation in the Public Administration sector. The vertice and provention to working conditions and prevention.

In Europe, The Netherlands is the leader with regard to workload. A survey held since 1974 about working conditions, conducted by Statistics Netherlands (CBS), shows minimal reductions of exposure to physical hazards (noise, polluted air, heat, cold vibrations, carrying heavy loads, and working in tiring positions). Furthermore, there is a clear decline of the share of monotonous work. This share diminished by one third and can be seen as an improvement of quality of working life. This does not differ much between the public and private sector, but physical working conditions seem to be a bit better. On the other hand, however, there is a growing number of employees who report working at high speed and with tight deadlines. In 1977 this was reported by 39%, in 1992 this percentage rose to 56% and in 1997 it was reported by 59% of the workforce. Furthermore, 10% of the workforce shows symptoms of serious psychological fatigue. Policemen, teaching staff, and people working in the printing industry and health care suffer from especially high workloads.

The better physical working conditions (except for RSI) have been mentioned as an important reason (19%) for employees of the private sector to change their job to the public administration sector.

Relatively many employees (57%) of the public administration sector experience their work as heavy mental work. In the private sector this figure is 42%. The work is perceived as emotionally exhausting when the employee cannot influence the content of work. On this aspect the public administration sector has a more positive score but less positive compared with the business service sector.

One of the biggest problems in the Public Administration Sector is the difficulty in defining the output parameters. When are clients sufficiently satisfied? When is the quality of a policy document, a marketing plan, or a research proposal satisfactory enough? Empowered employees, negotiating with independent and emancipated internal or external clients, must set their own goals and increasingly determine the quality level of the required output themselves.

There is a good deal of attention for Repetitive Strain Injuries (RSI). For the Public Adminstration Sector there is a convenant. The target set is a reduction of at least 10% in 2001.

Compliance to legal OSH obligations is better in the Public Administration Sector than in the private sector. In 2000 100% of the workforce worked in organisations in the Public Administration Sector in which a risk assessment and evaluation had been carried out (compared to 46% in the private sector).

In the Public Administration Sector 92% of the organisations have a written policy for reduction of sickness absenteeism (compared to 37% in the private sector).

A new campaign has been launched by the Dutch Government, The Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment. Convenants are concluded with a number of sectors. The convenants constitute an important element of the policy of the Dutch government in improving working conditions. These convenants can be described as agreements on joint action programmes; the participants in the joint action programmes are the central government (Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment) and employers and employee organisations that represent sectors concerned. In the Public Administration Sector the following convenants are concluded:

- Intention statements Social job creation: lifting, RSI, pressure of work, early reintegration Defence activities: lifting
- Convenants:

Central government: pressure of work, RSI, early reintegration Municipalities: lifting, pressure of work, RSI, early reintegration, aggression & violence Police: pressure of work, early reintegration

#### The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

According to the trend survey of WHP in The Netherlands there is sufficient interest in WHP in the Public Administration Sector, but still a clear knowledge gap of what WHP can contribute to organisations. The Dutch Centre of WHP should therefore keep on focusing on awareness and training OHSemployees in the area of WHP.

Most attention within WHP in the Public Administration Sector has been focused on smoking, alcohol and exercise. There is a wish to do more about working pressure and integrated WHP programmes.

Attention is, as in the private sector, still mainly focused on OHS and on preventing sickness not on promoting health and well-being. There is, however, a trend in the positive direction since public organisations started appearing on the list of "best companies to work for".

In the business sector work is more structural and programmed. Working processes are better managed and controlled. Working with quality systems for example, is much more normal in the private sector than in the Public Administration Sector.

Another difficulty in the Public Administration Sector is the hierachical structure which means that all processes are much slower. This means that initiatives sometimes die because of slow working procedures.

Working in the Public Administration Sector is less product-oriented but more policy-driven. This means that management is often less interested in WHP than in the private sector.

### **Consequences and need for action**

Raising awareness is the first point of attention. Increasing knowledge and understanding about WHP is important. Most information available at the moment is on occupational safety and health and on legal regulations.

Secondly there should be a change in focus from sickness to health. The budgets now available are

mainly being used for the 8% employees who are ill at home and not on the 92% of the employees who are working. This means that more investment in WHP in public organisations is required.

Developments in the field of WHP in the public sector should be linked to initiatives which already exist in the field of OHS. They should be working together. An example is to include specific WHP needs assessment questions in the obliged risk inventory.

Another item to develop is that the health policy should be one of the items in the collective agreements for public sector. There is a trend to make collective agreements fit more to personal needs. Personal needs in the area of WHP also differ, so it is an opportunity to include health.

In the Public Administration Sector certain WHP aspects deserve attention.Campaigns about conflicts at work, styles of leadership, RSI and working pressure and about health management and quality systems would be very helpful in improving the well-being of employees and organisations.

There should also be a good monitoring system to manage all these processes and to have sufficient information at policy level. In the area of OHS this data-gathering has improved a lot. Data on the determinants of increasing health instead of decreasing health (sickness) are hardly available. One of the methods to define these determinants is to create a database of models of good practice in the Public Sector.

# Norway

# Introduction

In general, legislation and regulations in Norway with regard to the working environment are the same both in private industry and in the public sector. The authorities detailed demands are dependent on the actual production and which types of risk factors the employees are exposed to.

There are differences in the working environment field between branches, small and large enterprises, private and public sectors. These inequalities are documented by several surveys, but we do not have systematic figures for all sectors with regard to exposures for groups such as gender, age, occupation etc. This has been a problem in this report when trying to show and document the situation in the public administration sector and compare with data from the private sector.

This summary will therefore look upon current practise of statutory occupational safety and health and workplace health promotion in general and outline what is coming in near future. From my point of view I do not see any main differences in the private and public sector today and where to go tomorrow.

# The Working Environment Act

The Act regarding factory inspection (1892) forms the basis for the Norwegian working environment legislation, and is traced back to the Norwegian industrial revolution. For a fairly long period of time, it involved awarding the employees basic rights on the one hand, and protecting them from accidents and injuries caused by industrial technology and administration on the other.

Until the1970s, protection of the workers was mainly an issue of avoiding acute hazards at the workplace. Legislation regarding protection of workers based on juridical, technological and medical reasons and expertise developed from these requirements. The most important tools were the establishment of measurable marginal values and standards as well as detail-oriented control and inspection.

Influenced by knowledge of how important employee participation and co-determination actually is, the Working Environment Act of 1977 came as the main basis for today's occupational and safety work.

Even if the objectives are general, the intention of the law is ambitious. The objectives of the Act state that a continuous improvement of the working environment must take place, independently of the current situation. Thus, the act's dynamic character is being emphasised at the same time, because the work with the working environment gives an impression of being a permanent development initiative in the enterprises.

A basis for the formulation of the regulations of the act is also the view that internal processes in the enterprises are decisive in order to create the development and change that the law aspires to. Discussions regarding work environment issues are to be stimulated at the workplace. The Act is based on the established co-operation in working life between employees, employers and public authorities. It draws limits for the work environment standards as well as the teamwork in the enterprises. It is also based on the parties finding joint solutions to problems at the same time as the employer is held responsible for operating the working environment work in line with the requirements of the Act.

The Working Environment Act draws a strategy for improving the work environment. This implies that the local level will now be the most important arena for development of solutions. The Act is, in this respect, less directed to control from higher levels or outside the enterprise, and more directed to development and learning on the basis of experience and conditions on each workplace.

### Systematic health, environmental and safety work (HES)

From the passing of the Act in 1977 to 1991, there was a development towards an increasingly stronger focus on the enterprises' participation in the work with the working environment. In this manner, the tendencies have turned in a way that the enterprises themselves are to initiate systematic protection work by lining out the working environment and formulating plans of action. As a result of this development, a regulation on systematic health, environment and safety (internal control regulation) was passed in 1991. The regulation firmly expresses that the enterprises are to make sure that the work environment factors are to be kept under control through systematic follow-ups on the requirements of the legislation. Simultaneously, employees are to be involved in this work through local co-operation.

To which extent there are authority demands regarding the volume of documentation depends on the enterprise and its activity, production hazards and size. Such documentation and assessments must be carried out by the enterprises themselves and they have to follow up over time.

### Status quo of the regulation on HES

The Internal Control Regulation in all enterprises is the main reform of the nineties in the field of HES work. Several surveys and evaluations have been carried out to see if the regulation is implemented and has resulted in appropriate work in the working environment.

Annex: NORWAY

One survey in 1999 evaluated HES work in Norwegian enterprises (Skaar, Dahl, Torvatn, 1999). 1800 enterprises in the private and public sectors were assessed with regard to their implementation of the HES regulation and half of the group had fulfilled it. If we look at the figures of the private, state and local authority sectors they were 44, 78 and 63 percent respectively. The private sector turned out as the worst but one aspect could be their high volume of small sized enterprises, which we already know have problems with the authorities' compulsory legislative requirements. Even though this did not explain the complete difference, the conclusion was that the local authority and the state sector have implemented HES to a greater extent.

The report discusses the tension in the regulation between two strategies. On the one hand there are demands based on the Working Environment Act's idea of participation, co-determination and the importance of self-learning and local solutions. On the other hand there is a way of thinking adopted from the engineers, where the regulation is looked upon as a technical/administrative tool for an effective target price. This way of thinking focuses on the tool itself and not on the customers and an area of application.

Confusion and conflicts could be the results and cause managers to lose their commitment and perform the HES work as a compulsory exercise to satisfy the authorities. Some results showed that the enterprises experienced that their systematic HES work is a contribution to a better working environment.

# **Workplace Health Promotion**

The HES professionals and the research institutions together with the social partners are working hard and are determined to achieve a better working environment in the enterprises. The national authorities are following up with legislation and regulations.

There is a focus on the traditional preventive work, applicable to risk factors threatening the environment and the health of the employees. Less attention is paid to the challenges of how to create the health-promoting workplace and how to establish this effort on the agenda and as a natural part of the working environment activity.

In enterprises, both in the private and public sectors, there is great uncertainty with regard to the term WHP. But this can be changed. As said before, the Working Environment Act and the regulation of systematic HES work have a basic demand of participation by the involved employees and their local knowledge at the workplace. They are stakeholders on what is important for their environment and their health.

The misunderstanding that experts can easily prescribe the right solutions is changing. We have now realised the importance of involving the employees actively in the planning and strategy processes. In addition, increasing attention is given to factors outside workplaces, which have influence on the employees' health and where the manager could intervene with appropriate measures.

Several Norwegian enterprises can show measures and processes that fit into the WHP concept. The background is the legislation and regulations within the working environment. This results in expectations for the future and the development of the Norwegian WHP design.

#### Status quo of WHP

Since Norway attended the European Network Workplace Health Promotion there has been increasing attention and curiosity regarding this concept both from the social partners and the OSH professionals. The press and media have printed interviews and articles on health-promoting workplaces. In addition, the topic has been presented at several conferences and courses and implemented in the training of some OHS professions.

As an effect of raising this attention, a lot of players have moved in and offered managers so-called "health-promoting" services and products. In general these are characterised by the lack of employee participation and are actually just welfare measures for the individual, e.g. massage, aromatherapy, dieting and slimming.

Such "health-promoting" offers will confuse managers who wish to start up the concept of WHP in their enterprise. They might believe that this is something they can buy from outside without starting a participative and involving process in the enterprise itself. We know this is not the way. Involvement and participation are the fundamentals if you wish to succeed with WHP.

Some WHP projects have been started up both in the private and public sectors. This will increase our knowledge and give national experience, which in turn could start the health-promoting wave in the Norwegian enterprises.

#### Needs for new action and new strategies

In Norway, as in Europe, working life is characterized by increasing international competition, demanding customers and owners, production based on competence and research, more flexible ways of organising the company and staff are more educated and need additional education at the next turn. They act individually and it is necessary to meet their needs in order to keep them in the organisation.

The work has changed. The traditional workplaces in the industry have decreased in number and new types of enterprises are emerging. The new technology and a new way of organising the production are a revolution in working life. The only secure element is the changeover and reorganisation in the enterprise.

The main feature of the nineties is an increasing complexity and growing intensity. The complexity is first and foremost caused by the transparency of the organisations. They appear as open systems doing away with interaction and limits for what is inside and outside.

In addition changes take place at an individual level amongst the staff. They are more educated; have new ideas regarding their working situation and the line between work and private life is sometimes invisible. They are hooked up in demanding and attractive jobs and work 10-12 hours a day. This results in a work overload for a growing number and burn-out syndromes are reported by several surveys and research projects.

In spite of this the majority of the workforce experiences good working days. Last year results from a questionnaire survey showed that 2/3 of the workers agreed on the following statements:

- They are satisfied with their job
- They have nice colleagues, a good atmosphere at work and bullying only to a minimum extent.

- Their work is a source of energy.
- The workload is appropriate.
- They have possibilities to chose their working time and their way of working
- Only a few (1 out of 10) experience work-related health disorders

This is positive, but also states that 1/3 of the workforce does not experience work in this way. There has since been an increase in the sick leave rate in the middle of the nineties and today it is at the highest level ever recorded. This is mainly long-term sick leave (more than 14 days). 7% of the workforce is responsible for 80% of the sick leave and this indicates that a group of the workers experiences heavy workloads in the working environment. There has also been an increase in disability benefit figures – 18% the last five years.

The working conditions can result in reduced health or be an arena for developing good health and personal growth. The survey mentioned earlier came up with 16 circumstances, which hinder or promote health. Exposure of the workers is not dependent on the industry in which he/she works or the work tasks, but how the workplace is organised and the quality of the psychosocial condition.

Good fellowship emerged as a significant health promoter and an effective buffer against unwanted incidents like health disorders and stress.

Both in the private and public sectors there is a growing demand regarding their products and services and the high sick leave rate and disability pension figures are therefore alarming. The social partners and the authorities have been intensively seeking new methods, tools and new alliances within the field of the working environment and sick leave work.

Early this year they signed a so-called "intention agreement" which will change the focus from bad health and absent workers and highlight the possibilities for good health and what the worker can do if he/she is given help and minor necessary changes at the workplace.

This is a breakthrough for the ideas of workplace health promotion in Norway. In November this year the partners of the agreement together with the National Contact Office (the national institute of occupational health) will arrange a national conference. The objectives are to work out the Norwegian design of WHP and to launch this concept as a conclusive strategy and method in the work on putting a stop to the increase in sick leave.

# Portugal

# Introduction

Health at work needs more attention from Government Agencies, Employers Associations and Trade Unions. Specifically in the case of the Public Administration as employer, greater cooperation between all departments and services of Central and Local Administration is necessary to meet workers' health needs and capacity promotion. Major involvement is expected from departments with the ability to plan, inform, train and enforce WHP in the Public Administration and to fund this investment.

We feel that workers' health is so relevant and has such an impact on sustainable development that

the interest and knowledge of occupational health and safety and health promotion should be an attribute of all individuals in any activity and at any level. For this reason the global capacity evaluation of every worker, in particularly those with management functions, should consider this issue of health and safety promotion as a priority like all the other required practical and theoretic qualifications.

# The current practice of statutory health and safety in public administrations

We value the importance of a new health and safety culture, which is a basic necessity for selfprotection and development of generalised and active participation in OHS.

It is necessary to disseminate information on risk assessment and control (traditional and emergent risks).

The mechanisms of workers' consultation and participation should be improved to achieve the necessary management and staff commitment.

The Labour Inspection is not very active at Public Administration workplaces, and its visibility is essentially limited to the public works where fatal accidents occur.

The recently created Public Administration Inspection is not yet very involved in OHS functionality. The gap between legal prescriptions and implemented actions should be reduced.

The knowledge and legislation available are the positive points. The lack of dissemination, motivation as well as individual and collective decision are the weaker points.

### The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

We place great value on developing a new health culture to programme and develop WHP in a participative way, with a strong management and staff commitment.

It is necessary to develop information as well as the individual's interest, knowledge and involvement in order to create awareness, self-care and the decision to participate in collective activities.

We note the lack of information on unhealthy behaviour and lifestyles and on up-to-date knowledge of strategies to promote health, among the most relevant difficulties in changing habits and introducing healthy behaviour.

There is a lack of interest at the individual and collective levels to participate in WHP and difficulties to change habits and to introduce healthy behaviour. Those are the weaker points.

Strong aspects of WHP are related to the social and economic results that should be considered and valorised by management.

#### **Consequences and need for action**

#### Main needs

The situation revision lets us identify some main needs:

- Coverage improvement;
- Consciousness and attitude changes of individuals, employers and community;
- More clear recognition of the economic, social and environment impact;

Dissemination, including quantified information about the way OHS and WHP could contribute towards a better world by sustainable development.

# Future action and final considerations

In order to motivate the reinforcement of WHP we fully support the Sicily Decalogue prepared specifically by the European Latin and South Countries. The 10 conclusions resulting from this specific project correspond to main lines of action to be implemented.

But, after analysing the consequences of an unhealthy working population and unsatisfactory implementation of Safety and Health Promotion, we justify the value of OHS and WHP accepting those as contributing factors for the satisfaction of global public needs in our modern society.

Nowadays, in a global world that accepts the human development as a goal, *education* and *health* are essential rights of all citizens, and could be classified as global public goods.

- Education, as the base of culture and knowledge, that contributes to continuous competence development, including the areas of creating competence for people's health and safety.
- Health recognised as a priority by all human beings, governments, societies and international organisations.

Accepting education and health as social values, governments, social partners and the society as a whole have to support the related policies with those sustainable development pillars.

The modern society expects OHS and WHP scope enlargement in order to consider the life quality, well-being, human development as well as the new scientific and management areas of OHS.

Workers' health importance has the individual, enterprise, collective and social consensual recognition. We defend the OHS and WHP characterisation as global public goods taking into account relevant concepts and conditions as such:

- Health and safety are essential human rights;
- OHS and WHP influences the worker and the organisations' performance;
- OHS and WHP are an individual and collective obligation, with local, regional and universal interest;
- OHS and WHP have impact on almost everyone's quality of life and capacity, recognisable in every place, region and county;
- OHS and WHP have impact on the environment and on other sustainable development determinants;
- OHS and WHP require the commitment of governments, social partners and individuals;
- OHS and WHP improve social interaction, involvement and participation.

Different areas and subjects of *Management and Workers' Health* have to be studied with special attention in order and as a condition to improve the actual situation.

# Romania

The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

As a general comment, the public administration sector is undergoing a phase of development in which employees' health requirements are not on the list of top priorities.

Nevertheless, employers are mandated to respect the conclusions of the OHS physician and to guarantee the necessary funds for the following services according to ministerial resolutions (resolutions by the Minister of Health and Family No. 615/2001 regarding obligatory OHS):

- recruitment of personnel for appropriate jobs accordingly to their physiological and psychological abilities;
- maintenance and promotion of health as well as the maintenance of employee working capacity;
- prevention of industrial accidents, industrial diseases or work-related diseases.

The OHS departments from the Public Health Directorates are mandated to prepare reports containing data for the national informational system (industrial illness, illness resulting in temporary working incapacity and working accidents etc.)

### The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

Health promotion is undergoing a period of developing resources and establishing alliances. The national network of health promotion has been reinforced through new legislation. A two-year training programme for health promotion is offered to all members of the network with the necessary abilities to develop such programmes, including those for workplace health promotion.

Workplace health promotion represents a real challenge for the Romanian National Health Promotion Network. Unfortunately, the cooperation between health promotion professionals and occupational health and safety professionals has not been seen as a global joint campaign to implement an integrative approach for health at work. Local programmes have more or less benefited from the multidisciplinary teams, mainly on the basis of good cooperation within the local communities. Another dimension that has been lacking for an integrative approach is environmental management.

## **Consequences and need for action**

The protection of life, physical integrity and health of employees at the workplace comes under the heading of health safety in Romania. The state only provides the legislative standard framework (the law on labour safety, general standards for labour safety, standards for labour security, methodological standards for applying legislation in the field and specific standards for labour security etc), which forces the leaders of the institutions to draw up and implement instructions for labour safety, taking into account the characteristics of labour processes. These instructions are designed to eliminate the risks of accidents and industrial diseases caused by these characteristics. There is no specific legislation for OHS in the field of public administration. Moreover, the term "public administration" is difficult to define.

Once the CAEN was adopted it became compulsory to report all statistic indicators according to this classification. Unfortunately, most of the available data was included in older classifications (difficult to compare to present classifications). During the process of collecting data there were problems regarding the classification of activities and institutions included in the public administration sector; many of the materials used in the documentation process used their own criteria. On the other hand, most of the data included indicators referring to absenteeism or the number of disabled people etc; there is potential, but they are not centralised at any level.

According to the law on labour safety pertaining to organisational structures, it is compulsory for institutions in the public administration sector to establish two committees. The first one – the Committee for Labor Safety is formed by engineers and is responsible for implementing standards for labour safety. The second one – the Committee for Health and Labour Safety is organized in the institutions with at least 50 employees and its tasks include carrying out medical examinations when employees are hired and periodic medical examinations. Unfortunately, the characteristics of the workplace environment in this field (compared to the private sector or enterprises) determined that the activity of the two committees should only be formal. The preoccupations and knowledge of these committees' members regarding their responsibilities and their obligations regarding employees' health and safety are rather limited. This factor is another reason for the lack of concrete data regarding industrial diseases or those relating to work-related disorders.

At the moment the Romanian Ministry for European Integration is carrying out a PHARE program, whose main objective is to implement OHS components into the organisational structure of institutions in Romania.

In this context the legislative framework from the field of OHS is adapted and maximalised. Order of the MOHF No. 615/ September 2001 regarding organisation and functioning of the occupational health services includes the public administration sector for the first time. The first official request for occupational health / occupational safety evaluation came from the leader of one public administration authority from the City Hall of Bucharest.

# Sweden

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

Two fairly significant trends can be discerned regarding the development of working life and the working environment within the public sector – the alarming increase in psychosocial working environment problems, and although not as obvious, the reorientation from illness and treatment to health and prevention and from research on problems to "the power of good examples".

As is evident from previously presented statistics, employees from the Swedish public sector appear to be exposed to relatively few physical environmental working problems, such as lifting heavy items, and exposure to noise and chemicals. In addition, a highly effective control and amendment system within this field of work has been established in Sweden for a long time. In contrast, the last 10 - 15 years have shown an alarming negative increase in psycho-social problems amongst public employees in Sweden in terms of numbers of diseases, stress, anxiety, burnout and uneasiness about the working situation. This is particularly true amongst workers in the social services sector, such as health, care and schools. We are touching on more complex issues here regarding the working environment essential for work and research, where knowledge must be increased significantly and where means for public investigation, action and follow-up have still not been fully adjusted.

The second development trend is the move from treatment to prevention. Until now interest within medical research and other research dealing with working life has focussed to a large extent on how and why some people become ill at a certain level of exposure and, to a lesser degree, on why the majority remain healthy afterwards, despite being subjected to various health hazards and working strain. Moreover, one could argue that the OSH strategies so far have been aimed at defensive control, treatment and rehabilitation at the expense of work on public health and prevention. Indications are that the "salutogenetic" (health promotion) perspectives are attracting more interest in research as well as in public debate. One such example is the Government 11 – point programme for a healthier working life, where, among other things, more resources are being allocated to projects that identify and document examples of good working environments and positive processes of change in the area.

# The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

Primarily one could argue that differences between private and public sectors are minimal in this respect. Generally it can be established that health-promoting and preventive work environment efforts are being made at a limited, even cautious pace. The authority in Sweden that could fulfil an important function in this respect is the Occupational Health Service (Företagshälsovården, FHV). Over the last decade FHV has been subject to significant changes. This includes a change of focus from enforcing working environment regulations from the National Board of Working Environment to customer-orientated attitudes on a "health market" signified by competition between different health care producers. This also means that more emphasis is being placed on efforts within an organisational structure.

Another, and most likely, negative change is that Government subsidies to FHV were cancelled in 1993, meaning that the FHV is totally dependent on the market and that both production and marketing is carried out in competition

With other similar producers of health care FHV thus became a free player on a free and non-regulated health care market. There are obvious signs that the supply of occupational health and safety services has deteriorated and the preventive work tends to decrease.

A major investigation on the FHV is currently underway. The result is likely to be a significant reinforcement of the role the FHV plays in working environment work, including initiatives for prevention and health promotion.

## **Consequences and need for action**

Due to the alarming increase in psychosocial disorders in recent years and the constantly increasing sickness rate amongst big and important occupational groups in the public administration sector (health, care and schools), increasing efforts are expected by Government authorities to handle these problems. As a matter of fact, this is shown in a lot of official reports. An important driving force behind these ambitions is the fact that there will be a new demand for social service employees over the next five to ten years.

Secondly, awareness is increasing about the need for greater efforts to move from words to action in certain areas of the work environment. Interest is growing to identify good examples of workplace health promotion and positive processes of development to serve as models of good practice in working life. In many parts of the public administration sector a lot of interesting models of good practice are ongoing, examples that have to be more transparent for a larger group of stakeholders than today.

A third trend of development, which is partly due to what has been said above, is the increasing focus on the importance of work organisation, steering and review as well as leadership and the management structure.

# **United Kingdom**

# The current practice of statutory occupational health and safety in public administrations

Health and Safety has a devolved structure within the United Kingdom. Northern Ireland has its own Health and Safety Executive (the Health and Safety Executive of Northern Ireland), HSEIN, while the Health and Safety Commission and Executive (HSC and HSE) cover England, Wales and Scotland. The Health and Safety Commission are the policy makers while the Executive are the researchers, engineers and inspectors. There are also local environmental officers who perform inspections. These work independently of the HSE or HSC and independently of each other.

Furthermore, there are several methods of data collection, all of them incomplete:

- LFS Labour Force Survey survey of 60,000 households in Great Britain
- **RIDDOR** Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations statutory reports
- IIS Industrial Injuries Scheme on behalf of Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) benefits agency.
- **SWI** Self-Reporting Work Related Injuries household survey
- **ODIN** Voluntary reporting by specialist doctors occupational disease intelligence network

**MOSS** – Reports from rheumatologists

**OPRA** – Reports from occupational physicians

- **OSSA** Reports from audiologist
- SWORD Surveillance of work-related and occupational respiratory disease
- SOSMI Reporting mental illness

(Northern Ireland) 1997 RIDDOR – Reporting accidents and ill health at work is a legal requirement under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations.

These factors of devolution and varied methods of measurement result in:

- Different national emphasis
- Different local emphasis
- Difficulty in collecting information
- Difficulty in analysing data
- Poorly correlated if not distinctly opposing data sets.

One of the strengths of the HSE is that its prevention activities are widespread with ongoing research and education in all areas. The HSENI is a new authority (1999) and hence its prevention strategies are not as widespread.

Data on Public Administrations sector reflects high work-related mental health data (from HSE annual report, using MOSS and OPRA reporting strategies) in relation to other industries (5th highest out of 18 major industries). 41 out of 100,000 workers (OPRA) per year were reported to have mental ill health in comparison to 10 for all industries (health and social work, gas, electricity and water supply, mining and quarrying being higher).

21 out of 100,00 workers in Public Administration (OPRA) per year reported upper limb disorder in comparison to 12 from all industries (manufacturing, gas, electricity and water supply having significantly larger amounts).

17 out of 100,00 workers in Public Administration (OPRA) per year reported spine/back disorders in comparison with 7 for all industries (6th highest, health and social work, gas, electricity and water supply, mining and quarrying being higher).

# The current practice of workplace health promotion in public administrations

Work Health Promotion has an even more devolved structure than Occupational Health and Safety. England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland all have their own structures. Similarly to Health and Safety, this leads to different national priorities and programs.

- Scotland has the Health Education Board for Scotland (HEBS) smoking cessation, diet, accident prevention and stress management
- England's organisation is the Health Development Agency (HAD) this is mostly focused on the National Health Service (NHS).
- Wales is part of the assembly and has a national workplace health promotion strategy in public administration
- Northern Ireland has little co-ordinated activity in health promotion.

Great Britain countries all have national award systems in which public administrations have taken part (Northern Ireland has no such system). All the countries, however, depend on local Workplace Health promotion suppliers to deliver programs. This leads to market-based targets with no specific national strategy and makes it difficult to put national programs in place.

Data on workplace health (from the HSE reports) suggests no specific problems in relation to other industry sectors.

# **Consequences and need for action**

It is difficult to generalise across the four country sectors and discuss trends, particularly for the future. There appears to be no evidence that modernisation has had an influence on WHP or OSH practices. It is difficult indeed to surmise where the influences for WHP are coming from in each sector, except in Wales where the influences are based on need and political motivations. Wales appears to be focusing on the concept of health promotion in small to medium enterprises while Scotland is focusing on stress and England on the National Health Service.

The Investors in People Standard was developed in 1990 in collaboration with the UK's leading businesses both large and small. The Standard provides a framework for improving business performance and competitiveness through good practice in human resource development. This initiative provided rewards to people who improved the work place; although it evolved from HR it also helped in WHP.

The Securing Health Together strategy is an initiative between the Health and Safety Commission, Health and Safety Executive with Dept for Environment, Transport and Regions, Dept of Health, Dept of Social Security, Dept of Education and Employment, Scotland office, Scottish Executive, Wales office and the National Assembly of Wales. This is setting targets for improving workplace health until 2020. This is, however, a strategy for all industry, not just public administration.

# References

- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2000): The State of Occupational Safty and Health in the European Union Pilot Study. Bilbao.
- European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (2000): Ten Years of Working Conditions in the European Union. Summary. Dublin.
- Naschold, F. (1996): New Frontiers in Public Sector Management Trends and Issues in State and Local Government in Europe. New York.
- Naschold, F.; Bogumil, J. (2000): Modernisierung des Staates. New Public Management in deutscher und internationaler Perspektive. Opladen.
- Paoli, P.; Merllié, D. (2001): Third European Survey on Working Conditions 2000. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions. Dublin.
- Piotet, F. (1996): Policies on Health and Safety in Thirteen Countries of the European Union. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions. Dublin.
- Walters, D.R. (1996): Identification and Assessment of Occupational Health and Safety Strategies in Europe 1989-1994. The Consolidated Report. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions. Dublin.
- Wynne, R.; Gründemann, R. (1999): New Approaches to Improve the Health of a Changing Workforce. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions. Dublin.

# European Network for Workplace Health Promotion

**Network members** 



Dr. Karl Kuhn Federal Institute for Occupational Germany Network Chairman Safety & Health - Dortmund Austria Elfriede Kiesewetter Oberösterreichische Gebietskrankenkasse – Linz **Belgium** Marc De Greef PREVENT – Brüssel Dr. Zaprian Zapryanov National Centre of Hygiene, Medical Ecology & **Bulgaria** Nutrition - Sofia **Czech Republic** Dr. Alena Šteflová Ministry of Health of the Czech Republic - Prague Prof. Dr. Milan Horváth National Institute of Public Health - Prague Denmark Kai Drewes National Institute of Occupational Health - Copenhagen Finland Liisa Jouttimäki Finnish Institute of Occupational Health - Helsinki France Michel Vallée ANACT Agence Nationale pour l'Amélioration Des Conditions de Travail - Lyon Dr. Gregor Breucker **European Information Centre** Germany **BKK Bundesverband – Essen** Greece Dr. Elizabeth Galanopoulou Ministry of Labour and Social Security/ Centre of Occupational Health and Safety - Athens Dr. Gábor Galgóczy Hungary National Institute of Occupational Health - Budapest Iceland Mrs. Dagrun Thordardottir Administration of Occupational Safety and Health Vinnueftirlit Rikisins – Reykjavik Ireland Shay Mc Govern Health Promotion UnitDepartment of Health - Dublin Ing. Sergio Perticaroli **ISPESL** Dipartimento Documentazione, Informazione Italy e Formazione – Roma Liechtenstein/Switzerland Dr. Inès Rajower SUVA – Luzern Paul Weber Inspection du Travail et des Mines - Luxembourg Luxembourg Netherlands Paul Baart Dutch Centre for Workplace Health Promotion - Woerden Norway Odd Bjørnstad National Institute of Occupational Health - Oslo Poland Dr. Elzbieta Korzeniowska The Nofer Institute of Occupational Medicine - Lodz Portugal Dr. Emília Nunes Direcçao-Geral da Saúde - Lisboa Dr. Alvaro Durão Romania Dr. Theodor Haratau The Romtemns Foundation – Bucharest Dr. Maria Dolores Solé **INSHT-CNCT** – Barcelona Spain Dr. Ewa Menckel Sweden National Institute for Working Life - Stockholm United Kingdom Mrs. Brenda Stephens The National Assembly for Wales

Health Promotion Division - Cardiff

# Healthy Workplaces Towards Quality and Innovation

Working Together for a Social and Competitive Europe



Published by: Federal Association of Company Health Insurance Funds (BKK Bundesverband) European Information Centre Kronprinzenstraße 6, D-45128 Essen Fax +49 201 179-1032 E-mail eiz@bkk-bv.de 1. Edition, May 2002

